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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Good morning, my

          3  name is Maria Baez, and I am the Chair of the New

          4  York City Council's Committee on Aging.

          5                 Today, the Committee will hold a

          6  hearing on two Introductions and one Resolution.

          7  Two of the measures pertain to the Senior Citizens

          8  Rent Increase Exemption (SCRIE), and one pertains to

          9  the Senior Citizen Homeowners Exemption (SCHE).  To

         10  be eligible for SCRIE one must be age 62 or older,

         11  have an annual household income of not more than

         12  $20,000, spend at least one-third of income in rent,

         13  and reside in rent-controlled, rent-stabilized, or

         14  Mitchell-Lama housing.

         15                 Intro. No. 539 would amend the New

         16  York City Administrative Code to increase the

         17  maximum annual income level for SCRIE from $20,000

         18  to $24,000.  This Introduction follows a recent

         19  amendment to the New York State Real Property Tax

         20  Law, authorizing municipal corporations to raise the

         21  annual maximum income eligibility level to $24,000.

         22  The last eligibility level increase in the enabling

         23  statute was in 1995, raising the threshold from

         24  $16,500 to $20,000.  Shortly thereafter, the City

         25  Council passed the Local Law making the change on
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          2  the City level.

          3                 Resolution 993 urges the state

          4  legislature to pass a law that would decrease the

          5  required proportion to be paid toward rent from

          6  SCRIE from one- third to one- fourth.

          7                 Intro. 540 would amend the New York

          8  City Administrative Code with regard to SCHE.  To be

          9  eligible for SCHE, a senior citizen must be 65 years

         10  of age or older, be the titled owner and occupant of

         11  the residential property in question for at least 12

         12  months, and have an annual household income of

         13  $21,500 or less for the maximum tax exemption of 50

         14  percent, on income from $21.501 to $29,899 for the

         15  graduated exemptions of 5 to 45 percent. This

         16  Introduction follows an amendment to the State Real

         17  Property Tax Law enacted last month allowing

         18  municipal corporations to increase SCHE income

         19  eligibility levels.  The last increase from New York

         20  City Senior Homeowners in the SCHE program was this

         21  year.

         22                 We look forward to hearing testimony

         23  today from the New York City Department of Aging and

         24  Finance, the Independent Budget Office, as well as

         25  many of you are concerned about these two very

                                                            6

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  worthwhile programs.

          3                 Before we proceed to hear testimony,

          4  I would like to introduce the members that are here.

          5    Council member Margarita Lopez, and Council member

          6  Sara Gonzalez, Council member Dilan, and the Counsel

          7  to the Committee, Cheree Buggs.

          8                 Before we hear testimony, Council

          9  member Lopez has to go so she is going to be

         10  speaking, and then she is going to be leaving.

         11  Thank you.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER LOPEZ:  I want to

         13  thank the Chair for giving me this opportunity to

         14  speak out of order.  I thank her very much, but

         15  after all, she is a great sister, and always help

         16  you in a moment of distress.

         17                 I want to apologize to the people who

         18  are here that I have to leave.  I have to do other

         19  things in the other Committee, and it is necessary

         20  for me to be there, because we are dealing with the

         21  Patriot Act, in the other room.

         22                 I just want to say that I am a prime

         23  sponsor of 539 and 540.  And the reasons why I am a

         24  prime sponsor is because I believe that we need,

         25  indeed, to give relief to elderlies who are
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          2  homeowners and to elderlies whose salaries or income

          3  do not go beyond the $24,000 a year.

          4                 The statement that I want to make on

          5  the record one more time, is that although I am a

          6  strong supporter of these two pieces of legislation,

          7  I continue to be obsessed, puzzled, angry, and I do

          8  not understand why people with disabilities are not

          9  given the same right that other people who are

         10  elderly are given under these pieces of legislation.

         11    When we talk about people with disabilities, we

         12  are talking about individuals who are in a fixed

         13  income also.

         14                 Therefore, I will pre-vote in favor

         15  of this resolution, these pieces of legislation but

         16  it is hypocritical for us to continue, let me put it

         17  very clear in place, that people with disabilities,

         18  who are in a fixed income, who do not make $24,000 a

         19  year, should be part of these benefits that are out

         20  there.

         21                 Thank you, Madame Chair, and I

         22  appreciate the opportunity that you just gave me to

         23  speak on this issue.

         24                 MS. BUGGS:  The next witnesses will

         25  be Sonia Rodriguez of the New York City Department
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          2  for the Aging, Sam Miller of the New York City

          3  Department of Finance, and Julie Walpert, Assistant

          4  Commissioner of the HPD, Housing and Preservation

          5  Department.

          6                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Good morning, my name

          7  if Sonia Rodriguez, and I am the Assistant

          8  Commissioner of Bureau of Senior Assistance and

          9  Benefits, which oversees the Senior Citizen Rent

         10  Increase Exemption Program at the New York City

         11  Department for the Aging.

         12                 On behalf of Commissioner Edwin

         13  Mendez- Santiago, I would like to thank you for the

         14  opportunity to talk about the Senior Citizen Rent

         15  Increase Exemption, SCRIE program, and allow me to

         16  comment on Intro. 539.

         17                 Mayor Bloomberg is a strong advocate

         18  for rent protections, which are vital to older New

         19  Yorker's, who often live on fixed incomes and need

         20  appropriate rent regulations to remain in their

         21  homes.  He had promoted these programs, like SCRIE,

         22  that provide a means for elder residents to remain

         23  in their communities.

         24                 The Department administers the SCRIE

         25  Program, which was established in 1974, to assist
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          2  low- income senior citizens living in Rent-

          3  Controlled, and Rent- Stabilized apartments to

          4  remain in their homes by authorizing exemptions from

          5  increases in their rent.  In exchange, their

          6  landlords receive a dollar for dollar real property

          7  tax abatement from the City of New York.  SCRIE

          8  currently provides assistance to approximately

          9  44,000 households in more the 29,000 regulated

         10  buildings.  Over seventy- one million dollars in

         11  benefits were provided to low- income households

         12  during fiscal 2003.

         13                 Over the years, the Department for

         14  the Aging has witnessed the burdensome impact of

         15  rising costs of living on our clients.  Most of

         16  their limited income cannot keep pace with the

         17  increasing financial costs of everyday necessities.

         18  Since 1996, there has been no increase to the SCRIE

         19  income ceiling, when it was last increased to

         20  $20,000.  Just this year, in rent- stabilized

         21  apartments, rent- stabilized apartments are being

         22  increased by four and a half percent and seven and a

         23  half percent for their rental agreements, depending

         24  on whether you are selecting a one or two year

         25  renewal period.
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          2                 The Department supports the

          3  legislation currently before the City Council as it

          4  helps those seniors already receiving SCRIE benefits

          5  and are not removed due to, I'm sorry, and are not

          6  removed due to small increases in their household,

          7  as well as making the program available to seniors

          8  that are currently experiencing high rental

          9  increases, that jeopardize their ability to remain

         10  in their apartments.

         11                 Intro. 539 proposes. The City Council

         12  proposes to enact legislation that would increase

         13  the maximum household income level to qualify for

         14  Senior Citizen Rent Increase Exemption, from $20,000

         15  maximum to $24,000.

         16                 In 1996, when the SCRIE income

         17  ceiling was last increased to its current $20,000,

         18  the program experienced extraordinary surges in the

         19  numbers of initial applications.  The volumes of

         20  those applications, however, tapered off over time.

         21  We believe that, as a general cost of living

         22  increase continues to rise, there will be an ongoing

         23  need for periodic increases to the income

         24  eligibility for the SCRIE Program.  We believe that

         25  this legislation, increasing SCRIE income ceiling
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          2  from $20,000 to $24,000, is a necessary step, but we

          3  would also encourage smaller increases in the level

          4  at more frequent intervals to keep the pace

          5  with the needs of New York City's seniors.

          6                 As it stands now, the major

          7  legislative increases that are implemented after a

          8  multi- year interval means that seniors who would

          9  have qualified for a SCRIE benefit at an earlier

         10  point in time, sadly loose out for several years.

         11  Instead, they must always wait until the next

         12  dramatic increase gets through the legislature. By

         13  that time, they apply their rental already at a

         14  higher rate. Preventative steps would be easy to

         15  implement in a structured and incremental fashion.

         16                 For instance, SCRIE income ceiling

         17  could be incorporated at regular intervals to keep

         18  pace with the cost of living index, as a measurement

         19  tool.  SCRIE is one of the best homelessness

         20  prevention programs for seniors anywhere, and we

         21  want to ensure its continued viability.

         22                 During fiscal 1997, the first fiscal

         23  year implementing the $20,000 income level, the

         24  number of incoming applications soared, and they

         25  reached record levels.  At that time, the program
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          2  received over 40,000 applications, including both

          3  initial and recertification applications for that

          4  year, doubling the annual volume of applications

          5  compared to previous years.

          6                 We anticipate the large surge of

          7  initial applications with the income level increased

          8  to $24,000 after a seven year period with no

          9  increases in the SCRIE limit.  In 1996, the income

         10  ceiling was raised from $16,000, $16,500 to $20,000.

         11                 Although we anticipate that while

         12  many new applicants will be eligible for benefits, a

         13  significant number of households will not be

         14  eligible despite the increase in the income ceiling.

         15    Despite partnership with numerous agencies

         16  advocating for New York City seniors, translation of

         17  the SCRIE guidebook into several languages, and

         18  several outreach campaigns, the SCRIE rolls have not

         19  increased significantly.

         20                 That being said, we believe that the

         21  increase of the income limit would enfranchise a

         22  significantly higher, larger segment of older New

         23  Yorker's now eligible for SCRIE.

         24                 For those initial applicants that

         25  applied for SCRIE after September 1, 2003, and whose
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          2  applications were denied because their incomes

          3  exceeded the current income ceiling of $20,000,

          4  SCRIE, will identify those affected individuals and

          5  issue approvals to those, after this legislation if

          6  enacted.  The capability is possible due to the

          7  computer and statistical enhancements to our

          8  computer system.

          9                 At the time of the last increase, in

         10  1996, SCRIE was in the process of implementing a

         11  comprehensive computer system to make eligibility

         12  determinations, reduce the margin of data entry

         13  errors, and process applications faster.  Had the

         14  system not been in place in 1996, the delays would

         15  have been far greater.

         16                 Now, the SCRIE system has been very

         17  successful in reducing its processing times and

         18  eliminating horrendous backlogs. However, the

         19  analytical skills required to properly evaluate

         20  applications cannot be computerized.  Although the

         21  computer enhancements since that time have improved

         22  the effectiveness of the system, the anticipated

         23  surge of application, coupled with reduced staff

         24  resources will more likely increase the turnaround

         25  time.
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          2                 There has been so much improvement in

          3  the processing of SCRIE applications.  We wish to

          4  maintain that momentum, and not return to the

          5  processing delays of the past.  To adequately

          6  address the needs of New York City seniors, we are

          7  looking to identify additional staffing resources to

          8  effectively serve our current active population with

          9  an additional population of many thousands of new

         10  applicants.

         11                 The Department supports Intro. 539

         12  and looks forward to speedy passage of this

         13  legislation, as well as additional resources to

         14  maintain our improved turnaround for eligibility

         15  determinations, so that we can soon provide enhanced

         16  benefits for those older New Yorkers who are

         17  eligible for SCRIE.

         18            Thank you for the opportunity to discuss

         19  this important issue with you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.  We

         21  have been joined by Council member Stewart, and

         22  Council member Recchia.

         23                 MR. MILLER:  Good morning,

         24  Chairperson Baez, and honorable members of the

         25  Committee on Aging.
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          2                 My name is Sam Miller, I am an

          3  Assistant Commissioner at the New York City

          4  Department of Finance.

          5                 Thank you for allowing me to testify

          6  on behalf of Finance Commissioner Martha E. Stark,

          7  and Mayor Michael R. Bloomberg.

          8                 The Bloomberg Administration strongly

          9  supports Intro. No. 540, which would allow more

         10  senior citizens to qualify for the Senior Citizen

         11  Homeowner Exemption, or SCHE Program.  As you know,

         12  this legislation would raise the qualifying income

         13  range by $2,500 at each of the existing, nine

         14  benefit levels.

         15                 For example, at the highest benefit

         16  level at which 50 percent of a properties assessed

         17  value is exempt from taxation, the income limit

         18  would increase from $21,500 to $24.000.  Thus, if

         19  this legislation is enacted, a senior with an income

         20  of $23,500 will receive an exemption equal to 50

         21  percent of the assessed value of his or her home.

         22                 Currently, a senior with the same

         23  $23,500 income, receives an exemption of 35 percent

         24  of the assessed value of his or her home.  At the

         25  lowest benefit level, which is the highest eligible
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          2  income bracket, an exemption worth 5 percent of

          3  assessed value would be granted to seniors with

          4  incomes of between $31,500 and $32,400.  Currently,

          5  the income range for the 5 percent exemption is

          6  $29,000 to $29.900.  The Administration estimates

          7  that the fiscal impact of this legislation will be

          8  $1.9 million per year.

          9                 We expect that more 1,000 additional

         10  seniors will be able to take advantage of SCHE, and

         11  more than 2,000 additional seniors will now receive

         12  the maximum benefit.  More than 27,500 tax payers

         13  were enrolled in SCHE in fiscal year 2003, realizing

         14  tax savings of almost $28 million, collectively.

         15                 Spending an extra $1.9 million on

         16  SCHE is a small price to pay if it means preventing

         17  seniors from loosing their homes, which, of course,

         18  is the objective of this exemption program.  It is

         19  also far cheaper to help people stay in their homes,

         20  than it is to provide temporary housing, and other

         21  shelter, for people who loose their homes.

         22                 Thank you, if you have any questions,

         23  I would be happy to answer them.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you very

         25  much for your testimony.  We will be asking
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          2  questions, we want to start with questions for the

          3  Department for the Aging first.

          4                 For what types of housing does DFTA

          5  administer the SCRIE Program?

          6                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  DFTA administers the

          7  SCRIE Program for rent- regulated apartments, rent-

          8  controlled, rent- stabilized, and hotel SRO

          9  apartments.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  What does DFTA

         11  estimate to be the cost to the City of increasing

         12  the SCRIE maximum income level from $20,000 to

         13  $24,000?

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  It is estimated that

         15  the additional tax expenditure to the City would be

         16  approximately $1.5 million for F.Y. 2004, and for

         17  the outer years through 2008, $11.3 million.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  And how did DFTA

         19  arrive at that figure?

         20                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  These are numbers put

         21  together by the Office of Management and Budget.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Council member

         23  Recchia.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes.  How

         25  are you doing?
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          2                 I have a few questions here.  Number

          3  one, Mr. Miller, how are you?

          4                 MR. MILLER:  Okay.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay.  With

          6  the SCHE program, okay, we, let's see if we can

          7  lower that.  Now, these are for people that own

          8  their homes, correct?

          9                 MR. MILLER:  Yes Sir.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right.

         11  If they earn between $21,500 to $24,000, it would be

         12  a 50 percent deduction off their real estate tax?

         13                 MR. MILLER:  Correct.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay.  And,

         15  for $23,500, right, or above, it would be 35

         16  percent?

         17                 MR. MILLER:  No, what I did was, I

         18  just picked a random, I picked, $23,500 is in

         19  between $21,500 and $24,000.  I just picked it to

         20  use as an example of what they get now.  Now they

         21  get 35, under this legislation they would get a 50

         22  percent.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right.

         24  What happens if they make over $24,000, the income?

         25                 MR. MILLER:  Currently they are not
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          2  qualified, I believe, oh I'm sorry.  They get less,

          3  they get a, let me look at the schedule.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes, that is

          5  what I want to go over.

          6                 MR. MILLER:  Okay.  Hang on one sec.

          7  Sorry.  If they get $25,000, if they make more than

          8  $24,000 now, well it depends, it is a, the more you

          9  make up to $29,000, sorry, the more you make up to

         10  $32,400, the less, the smaller the exemption.  So,

         11  if you make, pick a number, but if you make $32.400,

         12  $29,900 is the top level now, you would get a 5

         13  percent, exemption of 5 percent of the assessed

         14  value of your home, and this legislation would raise

         15  that maximum to $32,400, I believe it is.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  All right,

         17  now, once we pass this, what is the next procedure

         18  to implementing this?

         19                 MR. MILLER:  It will be implemented.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay.  Now,

         21  my question to you is, how do you expect to get this

         22  message out to the seniors that are homeowners?

         23  Because let me tell you the problem that I have.  My

         24  office went on the Department of Finance web site,

         25  cannot find anything about SCHE.  I represent a lot
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          2  of homeowners, we had a town hall meeting with HPD,

          3  and when they came I said, can you please make sure

          4  that somebody from the Department of Finance comes

          5  down to explain SCHE.  Nobody from the Department of

          6  Finance showed up.  We cannot find, all right, the

          7  application, how to go about this, there is nothing

          8  from your office to explain this to the seniors.  It

          9  is not computer friendly, it is like this big,

         10  mystery benefit to the City.  The best is when we

         11  call up the Department of Finance, people think I am

         12  crazy, because I am fighting with them on the phone,

         13  we never heard of SCHE, there is only SCRIE.  I am,

         14  and I am fighting with them, telling them that there

         15  is such a thing called SCHE.  What I am saying here

         16  is number one, whoever answers the phones at your

         17  Administration, they better know about this program,

         18  they do not know about it.  They do not know how to

         19  get it.  They do not know where to apply for it.

         20                 My question to you is, how could we

         21  work together to get this message out?

         22                 MR. MILLER:  We can certainly do

         23  that.  I want to apologize if somebody from our

         24  office was invited to a meeting, and did not attend.

         25    I will certainly attend, personally, and I can
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          2  have members of my staff attend the next meeting you

          3  have like that.  We are doing a lot of that now,

          4  around other exemptions such as the Star Exemption,

          5  as you probably know.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Right.

          7                 MR. MILLER:  We can certainly take a

          8  look at whether it is worth doing a big outreach

          9  campaign on SCHE.  I do believe that the

         10  applications are on our web site, if, I did enclose

         11  attached copies with the testimony of the

         12  application.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes, I see

         14  it.

         15                 MR. MILLER:  But, I can certainly

         16  take a look at making sure that it is easier to

         17  find, and certainly the people at customer

         18  assistance, our help line, know about SCHE, but

         19  maybe just remind everybody, so we can be more

         20  helpful.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Because I

         22  represent one of the largest districts with seniors,

         23  and many of my homeowners, I mean, they are looking

         24  to sell the houses because they just cannot afford

         25  the taxes anymore, but we need to get this out.
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          2  And, I am willing to work with you, and more

          3  importantly, if you get the Star Exemption, you can

          4  get the Star Exemption, plus get SCHE.

          5                 MR. MILLER:  Yes sir.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Correct?

          7                 MR. MILLER:  Yes, you are correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay, all

          9  right, thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON  BAEZ:  I just want to

         11  reiterate on what my colleague said regarding, what

         12  is the current rate of participation in the SCHE

         13  Program?

         14                 MR. MILLER:  I don't know what the, I

         15  am not sure exactly, I will have to get back to you

         16  on that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay, I would

         18  appreciate it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  I can tell

         20  you, it is low.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  It is not

         23  where it should be.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Right, and once

         25  again to see how we can work together to increase
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          2  participation of the SCHE program, maybe a mailing

          3  and other ideas that we can work together.

          4                 MR. MILLER:  Absolutely.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  We have been

          6  joined by Council member Nelson.  Council member, do

          7  you have a question?

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

          9  basically it was a statement.  I left Government

         10  Operations to come in, it is kind of heated in

         11  there, too, so I have to get back.

         12                 I just, as far as Reso. 993, I wanted

         13  to speak on my resolution.  Perhaps one- third, the

         14  proportion of income was workable way back when,

         15  pick a date, I don't know, twenty years ago, thirty

         16  years ago.  Surely in the 50's it was, I can

         17  remember you made $200 a week you were really, you

         18  were doing very well. But, not anymore, rent eats up

         19  too much of a persons expendable income right now,

         20  and obviously everything this Committee does, I am

         21  like a honorary member of this Committee, I have

         22  been put onto some other Committee's, is to protect,

         23  of course, our senior citizens, and, of course,

         24  especially those who simply cannot afford to exist.

         25  It is incredibly depressing hearing from seniors

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  that are frightened to death about not being able to

          3  afford to live.               So, I would have a

          4  question, actually it is for Aging, I heard I could

          5  ask this question even though Finance is before us,

          6  Madam Chair?

          7                 MR. MILLER:  That is okay.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Okay, oh I'm

          9  sorry.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Excuse me, Council

         11  member Nelson, we have Department for the Aging, the

         12  Assistant Commissioner, Julie Walpert from HPD, and

         13  Department of Finance, Assistant Commissioner also

         14  is here.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Oh, thank you,

         16  okay, that is when you are running it back and forth

         17  through Committee's.  Okay.             Resolution

         18  993 supports expansion of SCRIE, not by raising the

         19  income tax, the income cap, which I am so glad,

         20  since I got onto this council, I have been fighting

         21  to get actually up to $27,500 was my goal

         22  originally, but I, we will take $24,000 right now,

         23  and thank God the government, governor finally found

         24  it in his heart, or whatever he found it in, to sign

         25  onto that.  He gave us a summer with that, but it is
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          2  by making seniors who pay a lesser portion of their

          3  income, rent eligible, with DFTA support expansion

          4  of SCRIE, by means other than raising the income

          5  cap.

          6                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Our agency has really

          7  not looked and checked the numbers as to what impact

          8  that would have in terms of the one- third to the

          9  one- fourth, so I really would not be able to answer

         10  that right now.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Well I know,

         12  and unfortunately, to that your agency has been cut

         13  a lot.  I know you have people scrambling and doing

         14  other people's jobs, and so on. I would just

         15  request, if possible, that somebody get to work on

         16  that as well.  And, again, I really have regards for

         17  your agency, and I know that you are really short

         18  staffed.

         19                 Also, I wanted to bring this up too

         20  before I went back to the other meeting.  Just

         21  jumping around.  Well, you know what, Madam Chair, I

         22  think basically I made my point here, I want to get

         23  that across, and I just would like, obviously would

         24  like to see SCRIE raised more, SCHE, again, should

         25  be more publicized all over the place, and of
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          2  course, and the handicapped part of it as well.  We

          3  should ensure that it goes up as high as possible

          4  for all those who, basically, we are sworn to

          5  protect, especially those who cannot protect

          6  themselves, and I appreciate what Aging, I know that

          7  you have been supportive as much as you can.  I know

          8  you are under administrative constraints at times.

          9                 So, I thank you for that, and thank

         10  you, Madam Chair for this opportunity, this brief

         11  incursion.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you Council

         13  member. Council member Stewart.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

         15  Madam Chair. Good morning, good morning.  I have a

         16  few simple questions, as far as the SCHE is

         17  concerned.

         18                 Do you have anyone in the tax office

         19  who is there just basically to assist seniors, in

         20  terms of, letting them know that this benefit is

         21  there, that they can get help?

         22                 MR. MILLER:  We have people in every

         23  borough who can assist people in filling out

         24  applications, such as SCHE, or the Star benefit, or

         25  the disabled homeowners benefit, or SCRIE.  And, we
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          2  also have a customer assistance phone line, that

          3  provides answers to questions about every benefit

          4  that we have.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  My problem

          6  is that I feel that there should be someone who

          7  specifically would be seeking out anyone that is a

          8  senior, that owns a home, and, because sometimes you

          9  never see the problem until after they, you find out

         10  they have not paid their taxes for many years,

         11  whatever, lots of times you may see the problem, and

         12  they could have been eligible for this program.  So,

         13  I was hoping that you have someone there that is

         14  specifically dealing with seniors that all they do

         15  is to check to make sure that anyone who owns a

         16  Class 1 home, that they fill out and do what has to

         17  be done.  Someone specifically doing that, and if

         18  there is not such one, I think that might be a good

         19  idea.

         20                 And, also, when the tax bill has been

         21  send out, that a questionnaire goes out with that

         22  tax bill, asking the homeowner if they are seniors,

         23  at that time.  So that if they are seniors, and you

         24  requesting that they, if that answer comes back

         25  positive, then you send someone out to assist them.
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          2  I hope you can take that suggestion.

          3                 The next question that I have is

          4  that, who determines the increase, on what basis do

          5  you determine the increase?

          6                 MR. MILLER:  Let me just answer.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  No, in other

          8  words, what I am saying, you saying from $24,000,

          9  from $20,000 to $24,000, that is the range in which

         10  you increase from, from $20,000 to $24,000, I am

         11  saying why not say, well listen, from $20,000 to

         12  $30,000, what basis did you determine that it goes

         13  to $24,000 and not higher?

         14                 MR. MILLER:  I believe, Council

         15  member, that we follow the state guidelines on that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Oh, the

         17  state?

         18                 MR. MILLER:  Correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  The reason

         20  for that is that, I am looking at, I have someone

         21  still owes a mortgage on that house, and only making

         22  $24,000 as a senior, if we are really trying to help

         23  him, I do no think they can be able to pay their

         24  mortgage and it might be easier for them to get rid

         25  of that house, and get more help from the City.  So,
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          2  you know, we have to find a balance then, I thought

          3  that we might have been able to have some better

          4  basis, other than the state to really help the

          5  seniors.

          6                 MR. MILLER:  I think that is a matter

          7  that we should take up at the state level, to do

          8  that.  But, just to get back to your previous

          9  question point, we do do mailings to alert people

         10  that they, that there is a SCHE benefit available to

         11  them, and we put fliers in bills, and we can look at

         12  ways to do more of that, as I mentioned, like what

         13  we are doing now with the Star benefit, to try to

         14  get as many people to sign up for Star.  We can

         15  maybe do a targeted, in addition to a mailing, maybe

         16  we should do some outreach in the communities,

         17  working with you and your colleagues, to make sure

         18  that people know about SCHE, as well as all the

         19  other tax benefits, tax exemption benefits that are

         20  available to them. We should certainly take a look

         21  at doing that, and I will also take a look and see

         22  if it is, makes sense to have somebody dedicated,

         23  specifically to SCHE, or at least have a group of

         24  people who are doing that.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  On the basis
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          2  of the SCRIE program, the same questions I would

          3  like to ask, if there is someone that deals with the

          4  SCRIE, specifically, because I know that sometimes I

          5  spend time just trying to fill out that form, and

          6  reaching out to people that, and I find I have a lot

          7  of obstacles, in terms of trying to help the SCRIE

          8  people.

          9                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  We at the Department

         10  have four people that are dedicated, solely to

         11  helping seniors who come to the Lafayette location.

         12  We also have, twice a year, SCRIE training to our

         13  communities partners, and they are invited to come

         14  and actually learn if there are any changes to the

         15  application, or any changes that we have, we invite

         16  them to come in.

         17                 Currently, now, we have not changed

         18  the application awaiting the passage of the $24,000,

         19  to increase it to the $24,000, and although the

         20  statements and the language, we also have new, bar

         21  coded applications, and we disseminated those to our

         22  community partners, and throughout the City.

         23                 So, yes, the answer to your question

         24  is we do have people dedicated just to that, to

         25  assisting our seniors.  We also have a screening

                                                            31

          1  COMMITTEE ON AGING

          2  process called UNIFORM, where we not only screen for

          3  SCRIE applicants, but we also screen for those that

          4  may be eligible for SCHE, or Star, and we assist

          5  them in filling those applications, in house.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Is there any

          7  thought about making that application a little

          8  simpler, because I have been, before I became a

          9  council man, I was trying to help some seniors, and,

         10  with the SCRIE Program, and it was giving me some

         11  problems, so I imagine it would give seniors

         12  problems also?

         13                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  We would welcome any

         14  suggestions, we have gone through many modifications

         15  to try to, one, make it not only reader friendly,

         16  but so that they understand exactly what we are

         17  asking.  So, if you have any suggestions, we are

         18  more than willing to look at that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I just have a

         21  question before I put on my other colleague.  Is

         22  DFTA currently accepting applications based on the

         23  $24,000?

         24                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  DFTA is accepting

         25  applications, in other words, we are not deterring
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          2  anyone from applying because they have a $24,000

          3  income.  Since we know we will be bringing them

          4  back, we are not discouraging anyone from applying

          5  now.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay, and just

          7  once again, regarding outreach to encourage greater

          8  participation, I also would like to sit down with

          9  the Department for the Aging and see how we can work

         10  together.

         11                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  That would be great.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Because this

         13  certainly gives an opportunity for more individuals

         14  to apply, it is just, how do we take this and get

         15  the word out that this is available, and we want

         16  individuals to apply?

         17                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I have also left with

         18  the Council some new SCRIE guidebooks, which we now

         19  have in Chinese, and in Spanish.  We have a Russian

         20  that is in print now, that is also coming, but now

         21  with resources being what they are, we now have to

         22  change everything to the $24,000 so that it reflects

         23  the current levels, once the legislation is passed.

         24                 I would welcome that, I would

         25  absolutely want to work with you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

          3  Council member Gonzalez.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  Good

          5  morning.  I just have a comment, and sort of, a

          6  little different from my colleagues because my

          7  experience with your department has been excellent.

          8  I have to say I definitely want to work with doing

          9  more outreach, and making sure I get the information

         10  to our seniors.  I mean, as far as I am concerned,

         11  my seniors and our seniors are the legacy.  They are

         12  the reason we are here today, and they are the

         13  reason that we continue to do what we do because

         14  they taught us, and so, as legislators it is our

         15  responsibility to make sure we take care of them.

         16  But, I do want to also comment that Sonia Rodriguez,

         17  you know, because we grew up together.

         18                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes, we did.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  When I

         20  called the Department of Aging, I did not even know

         21  Sonia was there, and I got excellent, excellent

         22  response, and we were able to work with that women

         23  that was in the apartment and could not get out, and

         24  was very ill, and I thank you for that.

         25                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  You are welcome.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  So, I am

          3  definitely a sponsor of this, I support this, and I

          4  thank you for the work you do, and let's continue to

          5  do it together.

          6                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you council

          9  member. Council member Recchia.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Yes, Julie

         11  Walpert, when HPD, when you have those town hall

         12  meetings, when you come and make the presentation of

         13  everything of that HPD, I think it is very important

         14  for your office to work with the Department of

         15  Finance, and they should make part of the

         16  presentation, it is very good. People in my

         17  community, they get a lot our of it, and I was very

         18  grateful but the SCHE part I think would be

         19  definitely worth while.

         20                 MS. WALPERT:  Okay, I will bring that

         21  up to my commissioner, I am not involved in

         22  organizing the town hall meetings, but I am happy

         23  to, it sounds like Assistant Commissioner Miller is

         24  willing to attend, so, I will make sure I bring that

         25  point.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Now, I have

          3  another question.  In this, for the SCHE, it says

          4  your property must be used exclusively for

          5  residential purposes.  What happens if the senior

          6  citizen has a two- family house, they live in one

          7  apartment, and they rent out the other apartment?

          8                 MR. MILLER:  They are eligible.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  They are?

         10                 MR. MILLER:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay.  And,

         12  it says the annual household income has to be less

         13  than $32,400, excluding out of- pocket medical

         14  expenses.  Could we just elaborate on that?

         15                 MR. MILLER:  The medical expenses

         16  reduces your income, so if you have, if you can show

         17  you are spending X number of dollars to treat a

         18  medical condition, we take that out of your income,

         19  so it makes it easier for you to qualify.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  And that is

         21  money that you put out of your pocket?

         22                 MR. MILLER:  Correct.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  So, if you

         24  have, like let's say, if you go for chemotherapy,

         25  and you have to spend X amount of dollars, you can
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          2  add that up?

          3                 MR. MILLER:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  And, that is

          5  for the year preceding?  Because, over here, it is,

          6  you have to own the property for 12 months prior to

          7  March 15th, of the year when the exemption goes into

          8  effect.

          9                 MR. MILLER:  I believe you have to

         10  just show the expenses for that year.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Okay, thank

         12  you.  Yes, well let's say if you make $40,000, and

         13  you have $8,000, I know but this question, we are

         14  dealing with SCHE not SCRIE.  Okay.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  We have been

         16  joined by Council member Gallagher.  Council member

         17  Dilan.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Thank you,

         19  Madam Chair.  I just want to express at the outset

         20  my support for both of these Intros. Before us here

         21  today, and also share concerns with my colleagues,

         22  as far as outreach into the neighborhoods, for these

         23  vital programs that would assist seniors.  I

         24  represent many homeowners, and many seniors, most of

         25  those being bilingual, so, outreach is very
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          2  important.

          3                 I just want to ask a brief question

          4  to both Department of Finance, and Department for

          5  the Aging.  Before we receive the enabling state

          6  legislation, to go forward with these two Intros.

          7  Today, how much involvement did your departments

          8  have to your knowledge in framing the guidelines for

          9  the legislation?

         10                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Regarding the

         11  Department for the Aging.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Which would be

         13  SCRIE, just for the record, okay, okay.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Yes, yes, which would

         15  be SCRIE.  We have always supported an increase to

         16  the legislation because we, in frustration of our

         17  outreach, figured that we sort of plateaued and we

         18  needed to, the people that we were, the applications

         19  we were getting denied because of over income.  So,

         20  in terms of the legislation itself, it was state-

         21  enabling legislation but it has come as part of,

         22  also, the department support of it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, so, I

         24  guess in other words you would say, the Department

         25  for the Aging has lobbied for this increase for some
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          2  time.

          3                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I think, I could not

          4  speak to that personally but I can say that we have

          5  always supported it.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay.

          7                 MR. MILLER:  And I would just add, we

          8  work closely, as does DFTA, I am sure, with our

          9  State Legislative Affairs Office in Albany to make

         10  sure that the legislation passes, and then once that

         11  happens, it is just a question of working with you,

         12  to make sure that we implement, pass it here, so

         13  that we can implement it.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, the

         15  reason why I ask is because the bills have adverse

         16  revenue impacts, as it relates to property taxes.

         17  Can you tell me, and the question is for the

         18  Department of Finance, could you tell me how much

         19  revenue would be lost to the City if Intro. 540 were

         20  to be enacted?

         21                 MR. MILLER:  The estimate is $1.9

         22  million.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  And that is

         24  for fiscal year beginning F.Y. '05?

         25                 MR. MILLER:  I think it is '05, yes,
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          2   '05.  We are currently in '04 right, so it is '05.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  '05, and that

          4  would be effective January 1, so there would be no

          5  impact for this current fiscal year, is that

          6  correct?

          7                 MR. MILLER:  I do not know if we

          8  looked at a half year impact, did we look at it?

          9                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No.

         10                 MR. MILLER:  Right, it would

         11  effective for the tax year beginning July 1st, 2004.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, and then

         13  the next question is, what happens, currently, if

         14  under the current schedule of the income benefits if

         15  a senior, after the legislation is passed, now

         16  becomes, or say moves from the $24,000 bracket,

         17  which is considered somewhere in the middle right

         18  now, if the, if you want we can go to the schedule

         19  and make it a little bit easier than to stand here

         20  and try to go.

         21                 MR. MILLER:  Let me do that, I cannot

         22  memorize it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  I think right

         24  now the minimum is $21,500 for SCHE, is that

         25  correct?
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          2                 MR. MILLER:  Yes, yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  So, somebody

          4  making $24,000, which is now in the middle of the

          5  package, would they, would they, my basic question

          6  is would they have to reapply to receive the

          7  benefit, or would the schedule automatically shift

          8  to give them this new benefit?

          9                 MR. MILLER:  Council member, they

         10  renew by mail every year, and if they submit their

         11  income data to us, and they fit in the new tax

         12  bracket, we will increase their benefit.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, so this

         14  is something that will go out with their, maybe with

         15  their new property tax bill, they will have the

         16  opportunity to renew?

         17                 MR. MILLER:  We will send a separate

         18  mailing, actually, to them asking to renew.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  To renew?

         20                 MR. MILLER:  Yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  I have a question

         24  for HPD.  Does HPD us separate SCRIE applications

         25  than DFTA?
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          2                 MS. WALPERT:  Yes, we do.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  And what efforts

          4  is HPD making to reach a greater number of eligible

          5  seniors?

          6                 MS. WALPERT:  We actually have an

          7  ongoing outreach program.  Our SCRIE program is a

          8  little bit more controllable than DFTA's program

          9  because we have, it is mostly for the Mitchell- Lama

         10  development, so we have good contacts with the

         11  managing agents there, and when we implement a rent

         12  increase, at that time, we make sure the people know

         13  what the income limits are, so, the last few rent

         14  increases that we have implemented, after September

         15  1st, so it would be effective after September 1st,

         16  we made sure that we added a note that, that the

         17  SCRIE limits might increase, so that we have

         18  encouraged people to apply knowing that, well,

         19  hoping that the Council would pass this addition,

         20  this increase.  So, we have set aside some

         21  applications to date, we have, we have already

         22  prepared a flier for additional outreach, when our,

         23  when the recertifications are due.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  We just want to

         25  take a few minutes, one of the council members has
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          2  to leave, and he would like to vote before he

          3  leaves.  Council member Stewart.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          5  Madam Chair.  I just like to express my support for

          6  all three, the two bills and one resolution.

          7                 The SCRIE, I would like to, I would

          8  have liked to see it, seen it in, the exemption

          9  increase, nevertheless, I support this, and I vote

         10  Aye.

         11                 On the SCHE bill, I also vote Aye,

         12  and the resolution, I vote Aye.

         13                 Hopefully, that we won't have to make

         14  such a small increase next time, we would have to go

         15  a little higher because I think that the poverty

         16  level is at, they are very close to the poverty

         17  level, and I do not see this as a great increase.  I

         18  see it as keeping them in the same position, I would

         19  like to see them be in a better position.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you, council

         21  member. Council members have any other questions?

         22  No, no?  Thank you very much for your testimony, and

         23  once again, please, let's work together to see how

         24  we can encourage more individuals to get more

         25  involved, and take advantage of this opportunity.
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          2                 Thank you very much for your

          3  testimony.

          4                 MS. BUGGS:  Our next witness is

          5  Theresa J. Devine of the Independent Budget Office

          6  for New York City.

          7                 MS. DEVINE:  Good morning, Chairwomen

          8  Baez, and members of the Committee.  My name is

          9  Theresa Devine, and I am a Senior Economist at the

         10  Independent Budget Office.

         11                 Thank you for inviting us to testify

         12  today on the proposed changes in the Senior Citizen

         13  Rent Increase Exemption, SCRIE, and the Senior

         14  Citizen Homeowner Exemption Programs.

         15                 IBO estimates that raising the income

         16  eligibility threshold for SCRIE from $20,000 to

         17  $24,000 would result in 2,575 additional senior

         18  households receiving SCRIE benefits at a total

         19  annual cost to the City of $1.8 million in foregone

         20  tax revenue. The average value of the abatement for

         21  new participant households would be $711.

         22                 Reducing the proportion of income

         23  paid in rent required for SCRIE eligibility from 33

         24  percent to 25 percent would raise the number of

         25  participating senior households by 5,245 at a total
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          2  annual cost to the City of $1.2 million in foregone

          3  tax revenue, according to our estimates.  The

          4  average value of the abatement for new participant

          5  households would be $233.

          6                 The proposed upward shift in the

          7  income eligibility schedule for SCHE would raise

          8  exemption values for current participants, make more

          9  households eligible for SCHE, and encourage greater

         10  participation of currently eligible households.  IBO

         11  estimates that the total annual cost to the City

         12  would be $4.5 million in foregone tax revenue.  This

         13  reflects an expected increase of roughly 10 percent

         14  in the number of SCHE participants, as well as

         15  higher benefits for about one- fifth of current

         16  participants.

         17                 In the remainder of my written

         18  testimony, I discuss the current and proposed rules

         19  for SCRIE and SCHE respectively, and how we obtained

         20  our cost estimates for the proposed changes in each

         21  program.

         22                 I would be happy to answer any

         23  questions you might have right now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you, how do

         25  IBO's calculations for Intro. No. 539 raising the
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          2  income level from SCRIE compare to OMB's and DFTA's

          3  numbers?

          4                 MS. DEVINE:  Quite honestly, at the

          5  moment, I do not have their numbers in front of me,

          6  but my understanding is that they are approximately

          7  the same for the two SCRIE changes.  I do not

          8  believe they are at odds.  I mean, both changes are

          9  limited. Both are relatively small, I think that

         10  they are in line with each other.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Okay, how do IBO's

         12  calculations, of course, for Intro. No. 540 raising

         13  the income levels for SCHE compare to OMB's, the

         14  Department of Finance's numbers?

         15                 MS. DEVINE:  These, our estimate,

         16  IBO's estimate for SCHE is actually quite a bit

         17  higher than the estimate, there's is, I believe,

         18  $1.8 million, and ours is $4.5, I believe that the

         19  reasons for this are tied to our assumption of

         20  increased participation among currently eligible

         21  households in the SCHE program.  And, the basis for

         22  that is, we looked at the distribution of

         23  participants in the program, currently, and what we

         24  observed was that as the level of the exemption

         25  rises, from a 5 percent exemption to a 50 percent
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          2  exemption, the number of participants rises

          3  dramatically, so that, among Class 1, among Tax

          4  Class 1 and condominium owners who represent a vast

          5  majority of the participants, and for whom we have

          6  individuals level data, what we observed was that 80

          7  percent of the participants were receiving the 50

          8  percent exemption.

          9                 At the other extreme, there were only

         10  58 participants receiving the 5 percent exemption,

         11  and as you move up the exemption level from 5

         12  percent exemption to 10 percent exemption, you see

         13  significant increases in the number, and so, what we

         14  believe will happen is that when those who are

         15  currently eligible for a 5 percent exemption become

         16  eligible for a 20 percent exemption, we expect a

         17  larger number to participate.  So, we expect,

         18  roughly, 300 households, for example, in those

         19  categories to go up which is a response.  Now, bear

         20  in mind, that collectively this still represents a

         21  small number relative to the overall number of

         22  participants, but as the exemptions are improved for

         23  people, the people will respond to it, that is our

         24  assumption.  That produces the discrepancy, most of

         25  the discrepancy, I believe, in the estimates.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Just for clarity,

          3  what does IBO estimate the rate of participation to

          4  be for SCRIE and for SCHE, and how did IBO arrive at

          5  that number?

          6                 MS. DEVINE:  Okay, we have an

          7  estimate for participation in SCRIE, and that was

          8  obtained using the Housing and Vacancy Survey data

          9  for the 2002 Housing and Vacancy Survey, and those

         10  data, the 2002 Survey data are, they are benchmarked

         11  to the census 2000, and what we found using data

         12  from the 2002 HVS, is that the participation rate in

         13  SCRIE, comparing the numbers of eligibles, 111,000

         14  to the number of participants, according to the

         15  Department of Aging data, gave us a participation

         16  rate of 40.2 percent.  That is higher than we have

         17  estimated in the past, and we believe that much of

         18  that has to do with the shift from the, the shift

         19  from the benchmarking of the HVS from the 1990

         20  survey, 1990 census to the 2000 census.  I do not

         21  know if that was clear, but the idea here is that we

         22  are not sure that, we think it is a matter of we

         23  have better eligibility data now, and comparing that

         24  to the number of participants, we get a higher

         25  participation rate.
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          2                 As far as SCHE is concerned, we

          3  really do not have adequate information to come up

          4  with a good estimate for SCHE participation, and the

          5  reasons are two- fold.

          6                 If you look at the eligibility

          7  criteria, it is based on owner income, and in

          8  surveys's, household, the income, we can determine

          9  income by individuals in the household.  But, it

         10  also, there is an exemption for, for example,

         11  pharmacy, for medical expenses, unreimbursed, and

         12  that we cannot determine, so, in part, our survey

         13  data does not provide enough information.

         14                 On the flip side of that, we also

         15  have in the Department of Finance data for SCHE, we

         16  do not have individual records for individual co- op

         17  owners, so, although we have the total exemption for

         18  a cooperative building, we do not know how many

         19  actual individuals receive the exemption in the

         20  cooperative building.

         21                 So, the bottom line is we do not have

         22  a SCHE, we do not have a SCHE estimate for

         23  participation.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Any questions?  We

         25  have been joined by Council member Foster.  Okay,
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          2  thank you very much.

          3                 MS. BUGGS:  Our next witness is Karen

          4  Guccione of the Manhattan Borough President's

          5  Office, C. Virginia Fields.

          6                 MS. GUCCIONE:  Good morning, my name

          7  is Karen Guccione, I am here to represent C. Virgina

          8  Fields, the Manhattan Borough President.  She sends

          9  her regards, and she could not be here today, and

         10  asked me to represent her.

         11                 And, so, Honorable Maria Baez, and

         12  members of the Committee, I am testifying in support

         13  of Introductions 539 and 540, and Resolution 993.

         14                 These resolutions embody the forms

         15  that will help thousands of seniors remain in their

         16  homes.  It is long past time for an increase in

         17  income eligibility for SCRIE, and for, and it is

         18  disappointing, however, that the increases are not

         19  greater.

         20                 On April 26, 2002 I testified before

         21  the Committee of Aging concerning the SCRIE program.

         22    At that time the resolution on income eligibility

         23  called for an increase from $20,000 to $25,000.  I

         24  made it clear then that the income guidelines should

         25  be increased even more, to compensate for the seven,
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          2  very long years since the last adjustment.

          3                 It is now eight years since there has

          4  been an income adjustment in the SCRIE program.  The

          5  state has finally passed legislation that increases

          6  the income eligibility to $24,000, and of course, we

          7  urge the passage of this Introduction.

          8                 Due to high rents, and the long

          9  overdue adjustment, the Borough President does

         10  support Introduction 539, for there will be many

         11  more seniors who will now be able to benefit.  I

         12  know a lot of people are going to be saying the same

         13  thing, so I am trying to skip around a bit.  So,

         14  let's skip down.

         15                 The thing that is most important is

         16  that the Borough President urges all of you, and

         17  everyone in this room, to continue to fight for

         18  increases in the SCRIE program, and also that the

         19  income guidelines be adjusted to $30,000, and

         20  include a cost of living adjustment to ensure

         21  ongoing support for seniors, as they struggle to

         22  make ends meet.

         23                 With the exception of single- parent

         24  families, older New Yorker's pay a greater share of

         25  their income for housing, than do any other segment
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          2  of our population, but New York can, and should also

          3  play a part in taking this burden off the shoulders

          4  of the elderly.  Increasing the income eligibility

          5  is a good first step.

          6                 A good next step is addressed by

          7  Introduction 540, which pertains to the SCHE

          8  program, which provides for it's expansion, and will

          9  help more owners of private homes, cooperatives, and

         10  condominiums by increasing, even though it is on a

         11  sliding scale, income guidelines all the way up to

         12  $32,400.

         13                 The passage of this legislation is

         14  crucial because of the recent large increase in real

         15  property taxes has been a particular burden to

         16  seniors on fixed incomes, thus reducing a portion of

         17  real property taxes via the SCHE program, lessens

         18  the financial struggle of many seniors.  For this

         19  reason, the Borough President urges you to pass

         20  Introduction 540.

         21                 Resolution 933, which decreases a

         22  proportion of rent to income from a minimum of one-

         23  third to one- quarter.  This resolution will help

         24  relieve the desperate housing crisis, and would help

         25  so many older New Yorker's that are on fixed
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          2  incomes.

          3                 These New Yorker's need our help.

          4  The Manhattan Borough President, C. Virginia Fields,

          5  commends this Committee for bringing attention to

          6  their plight, and for continuing a much needed

          7  dialogue on assistance for older New Yorker's.

          8  Thank you.

          9  Any question?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you very

         11  much.  We have been joined by Council member

         12  Sanders.

         13                 MS. BUGGS:  And the next witnesses

         14  will be called in panels.  The first is Julie Hymen,

         15  of CIDNY, Nancy Chang of the Center for

         16  Constitutional Rights, and Miriam Burns.  Would all

         17  of those parties please come forward, and take a

         18  seat?  Is Nancy Chang here?  Proceed.

         19                 MS. HYMAN:  Good morning, my name is

         20  Julie Hyman, I am the Senior Policy Analyst at

         21  CIDNY, the Center for Independence of the Disabled

         22  in New York.  CIDNY is a disability rights advocacy

         23  organization that promotes a full inclusion of

         24  people with disabilities in all aspects of community

         25  life.
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          2                 Although the focus of this hearing is

          3  the expansion of the Senior Citizen Rent Increase

          4  Exemption Program to include seniors who have an

          5  annual income of up to $24,000, which CIDNY fully

          6  supports, I am here today to remind the Council of

          7  the importance of expanding the Program to include

          8  low- income people with disabilities, who are on

          9  this same fixed- incomes as the seniors who benefit

         10  from this important program.

         11            Like seniors, people with disabilities,

         12  especially those who rely solely on Supplemental

         13  Security Income, or SSI, as their only source on

         14  income, are in increasingly greater danger of

         15  loosing their homes as rents continue to rise.  For

         16  a person with a disability, loosing a home is

         17  loosing an accessible home, and in New York City

         18  accessible housing that is affordable, is a near

         19  impossibility to find.

         20                 For at least the past three years,

         21  the campaign to expand the SCRIE program, to include

         22  people with disabilities, has received widespread

         23  support from senior organizations, housing advocacy

         24  and tenant organizations, and local and state

         25  elected state officials, including Manhattan Borough
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          2  President, C. Virginia Fields.  It has also received

          3  support from the New York State Assembly and the New

          4  York State Senate.  For the past several years, the

          5  Assembly has passed a bill that allows localities to

          6  expand SCRIE to include people with disabilities who

          7  meet the existing program income requirements.

          8                 An identical bill has also been

          9  repeatedly introduced in the State Senate, however,

         10  opposition to the expansion of the program to

         11  include people with disabilities, first by Mayor

         12  Giuliani, and now by Mayor Bloomberg, has prevented

         13  the bill from moving through the Senate.  The reason

         14  for the opposition given each year, was that the

         15  cost of expanding the program would be too

         16  burdensome on a City already facing severe budget

         17  deficits.           In June 2000, the Independent

         18  Budget Office estimated that the cost to New York

         19  City in foregone property tax revenues would be

         20  approximately $2 million in the first full year of

         21  program implementation, and about $12 million over

         22  the next five years, which is a cost significantly

         23  less than the $91,000 per person, per year, it costs

         24  for a nursing home placement, and the $23,000 per

         25  year it costs for a shelter placement.  Nursing
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          2  homes are where people with disabilities end up when

          3  they loose their homes.  Shelters are generally not

          4  accessible, and they do not allow personal care and

          5  home attendants to accompany people who need

          6  temporary housing.  So, nursing home placement is,

          7  ultimately, where people with disabilities go when

          8  they loose their homes, which is not an acceptable

          9  solution.

         10                 Expanding SCRIE to people with

         11  disabilities is good economic sense, it is the right

         12  thing to do, there is a resolution that has been

         13  floating around for several years in the City

         14  Council, and I would encourage the Council to look

         15  at that again, continue to express the support for

         16  people with disabilities, that this Committee, and

         17  this Council has expressed in the past.

         18                 My written testimony includes an

         19  overview of some of the housing obstacles, and

         20  economic obstacles to housing, faced by people with

         21  disabilities in New York City, and I will leave that

         22  for you to look over at your convenience.  Thank

         23  you.

         24                 MS. BURNS:  Good morning Chairperson

         25  Baez, and members of the Committee on Aging.  My
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          2  name is Miriam Burns, and I am the Government

          3  Relations Liaison for Selfhelp Community Services.

          4  I want to thank you for asking us to testify.

          5                 Selfhelp is a non- profit agency

          6  founded in 1936 by a small group of refugees fleeing

          7  Nazi persecution.  While Selfhelp continues to

          8  provide services to more than 2,700 Holocaust

          9  survivors, it has also become one of New York's

         10  largest, and most vital geriatric and home care

         11  agencies providing home care, affordable housing,

         12  senior centers, and NORC supportive services to more

         13  than 20,000 New Yorker's, most of them elderly.

         14                 All of these programs have in common

         15  the goal of assisting seniors to remain in their own

         16  homes, and their own communities as long as

         17  possible.

         18                 However, without benefits such as

         19  SCRIE and SCHE, New York would be unaffordable to

         20  many of our clients whose fixed incomes often put

         21  them barely above the poverty level.

         22                 First, I want to speak in support of

         23  Intro. 539, increasing to $24,000 the maximum income

         24  level qualifying for exemption from rent increases

         25  to certain senior citizens.
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          2                 Before I continue with my testimony,

          3  I want to say that this is particularly gratifying

          4  for me since, in the may years I worked at the City

          5  Council, increasing the income levels for SCRIE had

          6  been a priority.  All I can say is, it is about time

          7  Albany heard, and responded to the serious financial

          8  plight of so many of New York's most vulnerable

          9  citizens.  I might add, as well, that I am somewhat

         10  disappointed the income level was not raised even

         11  higher as I know the Council has requested.

         12                 SCRIE provides a vital service by

         13  allowing senior residents of New York to remain in

         14  their homes and communities by keeping their rent

         15  affordable.  The cost of living in New York City

         16  makes it difficult for many seniors to make ends

         17  meet.  Not only low, but also middle income seniors

         18  feel the burden of escalating costs in rent, a rate

         19  that is twice that of the rest of the country.

         20  According to the State Office for the Aging, the

         21  typical renter in New York City is female, widowed

         22  frail, living alone, and on a limited income.

         23                 According to the Department for the

         24  Aging, while the United States has experienced a 13

         25  percent drop in the national poverty rates among the
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          2  elderly, New York's senior population identified as

          3  living in poverty has increased by 6.6 percent.  The

          4  2000 census reveals that 17.8 percent of New

          5  Yorker's over the age of 65 and 18.3 percent of

          6  those 75 and over are living in poverty However,

          7  even those living above the poverty level in New

          8  York City have trouble making ends meet.

          9                 Affordable housing in New York City

         10  is virtually unavailable, and waiting lists for

         11  public housing soar yearly, while Federal 202

         12  housing, specifically for seniors, as documented in

         13  a 2002 report by Congressman Anthony Wiener, report

         14  10 year waiting lists.

         15                 When Selfhelp opened its last

         16  apartment building for seniors, there were almost

         17  2,500 applications for 70 apartments.

         18                 It is ironic that the 1999 Olmstead

         19  decision mandating that the disabled be helped to

         20  remain in the least restrictive environment is

         21  coupled with a diminishing commitment to building

         22  affordable housing.  While the City administration

         23  has proposed a major building effort throughout New

         24  York City, its proposal does not even mention the

         25  need for affordable senior housing.
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          2                 It is, therefore, an imperative that

          3  seniors be helped to remain in their own apartments,

          4  and the increase in the SCRIE limits is one way to

          5  help them do so.

          6                 Next, I want to speak in support of

          7  Intro. 540, to amend the Administrative Code of the

          8  City of New York, in relation to tax exemption for

          9  low- income elderly persons.

         10                 While more New Yorker's are renters

         11  than home owners, there are a significant number of

         12  home owners who live on the same limited income as

         13  renters with their home their only asset, and

         14  alternative housing unaffordable.  Particularly this

         15  year when property taxes have increased to 18.5

         16  percent, many of these seniors will find it

         17  difficult to absorb this tax increase, and continue

         18  to pay for the high cost of medication, food, and

         19  other necessities.  The increase in income level

         20  will help to alleviate some of this stress.

         21                 Finally, we would like to support

         22  Reso. 993 that would decrease the percentage of

         23  income from one- third to one fourth that must be

         24  paid in rent to be eligible for SCRIE.  Given the

         25  high cost of living in the City of New York, the
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          2  increasing cost of medication, this percentage makes

          3  more sense when you are dealing with people whose

          4  incomes are below $24,000 annually. Lowering the

          5  rent- to- income threshold to this level just makes

          6  good sense, and I thank you for inviting us to

          7  testify.

          8                 MS. BUGGS:  Our next witnesses,

          9  Raquel Romanick of the Council of Senior Centers and

         10  Services, Jessica Walker from United Neighborhood

         11  Houses, and Elizabeth Klaber of Rent Controlled

         12  Seniors.  Ms. Romanick, would you begin?

         13                 MS. ROMANICK:  Sure, good morning, my

         14  name if Raquel Romanick, and I am the legal advocate

         15  at Council of Senior Centers and Services of New

         16  York City.

         17                 First, on behalf of CSCS, its member

         18  agencies and the 300,000 elderly people they serve,

         19  we would like to thank Councilwoman Baez, Chair of

         20  the Aging Committee, and the whole Committee on

         21  Aging for its staunch support of Senior Centers and

         22  Services for the elderly.  It is your ongoing

         23  commitment to these programs that have saved senior

         24  centers from closing, meals from being eliminated,

         25  and funding for transportation and other critical
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          2  services from being cut.

          3                 CSCS is the central organization in

          4  New York City representing 265 community- based

          5  services for 300,000 older New Yorkers.  Services

          6  provided through our member agencies include

          7  congregate and home- delivered meals, housing, case

          8  management, home care, multi service senior centers,

          9  social adult day services, transportation, Naturally

         10  Occurring Retirement Communities, information and

         11  referral, assistance for immigrants, computerized

         12  benefits, programs, educational and cultural

         13  activities, counseling, health promotion, legal

         14  services, opportunities for volunteerism, and

         15  intergenerational programs.

         16                 I would like to thank City Council

         17  for their support of the SCRIE and SCHE programs.

         18  As housing costs around the City continue to rise,

         19  many seniors, particularly those that live on a

         20  limited, fixed income, are feeling their narrow

         21  dollars stretched between increasing housing,

         22  transportation and health care costs, leaving many

         23  forced to make difficult, and often life threatening

         24  decisions.  It is more important than ever for New

         25  York to take steps, such as the Introductions we are
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          2  here on today, to ensure that no New York City

          3  senior has to decide between paying the rent and

          4  buying food.

          5                 SCRIE is the New York City program

          6  that was established in 1970 to arm certain older

          7  New Yorkers in the battle to remain in affordable

          8  housing.  For those seniors eligible for SCRIE, the

          9  City of New York will pay the difference between the

         10  increase in the amount the senior citizen pays at

         11  the application to the program.

         12                 Currently, the program is available

         13  only to those 62 or over, living in rent- controlled

         14  or rent- stabilized apartments and certain

         15  residential hotel units.  This program is an

         16  important benefit for many senior citizens, and

         17  increasing the eligibility requirement will enable

         18  many more seniors to take advantage of this program,

         19  however, merely increasing eligibility levels on its

         20  own is not enough.

         21                 New Yorkers are suffering from the

         22  worse housing shortage in decades, accompanied by

         23  soaring prices.  The waiting list for public housing

         24  is above 100,000 families, and the list for rent

         25  vouchers if over 200,000.  Typically, shelters take
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          2  in 5,000 families and 7,000 people per night.  A

          3  report released last year by Congressman Weiner's

          4  office shows that waiting lists for Section 202

          5  senior housing contain over 200,000 names, with some

          6  seniors having to wait up to 10 years for an

          7  available apartment.

          8                 With 1.3 million seniors in New York

          9  City alone, we face an incredible challenge in

         10  helping seniors remain in their homes, and in their

         11  communities.  As a Congressional study released last

         12  year by the Commission of Affordable Housing and

         13  Health Facility needs for Seniors in the 21st

         14  Century, entitled "A Quiet Crisis in America" shows,

         15  the most effective means of affordable housing for

         16  seniors is to enable them to age in place, and SCRIE

         17  is an effective method for achieving that.

         18                 Due to factors such as the increasing

         19  number of older people living below the poverty

         20  level, the shortage of affordable housing, and the

         21  rising costs of medical treatment, seniors need to

         22  have the ability to remain in their own homes during

         23  their retirement years.  If given a choice, the

         24  elderly wish to remain in the community, and this

         25  phenomenon affects seniors across all economic
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          2  lines.

          3                 The SCRIE program assists seniors by

          4  keeping their homes affordable, enabling them to

          5   "age in place", therefore, these programs provide

          6  an effective way for the elderly who seek to remain

          7  in their communities to age with dignity.  Aging in

          8  place not only provides the comfort and security of

          9  familiar surroundings but it also provides the

         10  senior with the necessary means to remain

         11  independent.

         12                 The concept of aging in place is good

         13  for New York City, as well.  It not only eases the

         14  demand for the federally funded 202 housing, but it

         15  also allows communities to remain intact by no

         16  longer being stripped of their valuable tax paying

         17  senior members.  Additionally, it promotes the

         18  retention of the long term community relationships

         19  that have been established over a lifetime.

         20                 According to the IBO, only 40.2

         21  percent of eligible households take advantage of the

         22  SCRIE program.  This is a meager number for such an

         23  important benefit.  To help the most seniors utilize

         24  this important benefit, outreach and help with the

         25  application is critical to the programs success.
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          2  Work needs to be done to ensure that all qualifying

          3  seniors know about and participate in the SCRIE

          4  program.  Public service announcements of New York

          5  City buses would be an important tool.

          6                 About a year ago, CSCS in conjunction

          7  with United Neighborhood Houses put together a SCRIE

          8  outreach coalition. Comprised of not for profits,

          9  corporations, and government, we have been hard at

         10  work expanding knowledge of this program.  Together,

         11  we have worked at getting information on this

         12  program out into the community and we look forward

         13  to working with City Council to promote awareness of

         14  this program.

         15                 I appreciate the opportunity to give

         16  testimony today.  CSCS has, as a priority, worked

         17  for many years up in Albany to increase the income

         18  eligibility levels from the $20,000 level.

         19  Introduction 539 is an important, long awaited, and

         20  much needed increase in income eligibility levels.

         21  We appreciate the support City Council has given us

         22  in our past efforts, and this current increase to

         23  $24,000 will enable thousands of more seniors to

         24  obtain immediate, and much needed rent relief.  We

         25  are grateful for the work of the Committee and of
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          2  the Council in bringing this issue for an immediate

          3  hearing and for drafting language in the

          4  introduction making the bill retroactive.  As rent

          5  increase went up record amounts this year, this

          6  legislation is more important than ever.           With

          7  the soaring cost of living here in New York City, we

          8  need to raise these eligibility levels even higher.

          9  The $20,000 level was passed back in 1996, and this

         10  $4,000 increase, while important, is only a first

         11  step.  We believe the time has come to raise those

         12  levels up to $30,000.

         13                 CSCS supports resolution 993 in

         14  support of A.6198. These laws, if passed, would

         15  amend the RPTL to decrease the required proportion

         16  of income to be paid towards rent from one third to

         17  one- fourth.  The current 33 percent requirement if

         18  already higher than the federal affordability

         19  standard for housing programs, which  is capped at

         20  30 percent.  According to a 2002 IBO report,

         21  lowering the rent to income threshold would make

         22  many more households eligible for this program at

         23  only a modest $2.5 million cost to the City.

         24                 Lowering the rent to income threshold

         25  in and of itself is not enough.  This threshold must
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          2  serve as a cap on rental costs.  Under the current

          3  program, if a tenant signs up for the program paying

          4  50 percent of their income in rent, their rent stays

          5  at the 50 percent level.  The 33 percent is a

          6  minimum percentage the tenant must pay.  To truly

          7  provide adequate housing relief, we need to

          8  replicate the method used in federal housing

          9  programs, and in NYCHA sites which is to ensure that

         10  tenants pay rent equal to only 30 percent or less of

         11  their monthly income.

         12                 Again, I would like to thank

         13  Chairwoman Baez, the Aging Committee, and City

         14  Council for their advocacy on behalf of older New

         15  Yorkers.  We look forward to working with you in the

         16  future to bring rent relief to those who need it

         17  most.  Thank you, again, for the opportunity to

         18  testify today.  Please feel free to contact us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Before we proceed,

         20  we have Council member Sanders, who would like to

         21  make a comment.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER SANDERS:  Thank you

         23  very much, Madam Chair for this excellent hearing on

         24  a very, very important subject that the City needs

         25  to take a look at.
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          2                 My name is James Sanders, Jr..  I am

          3  the Councilman for several Naturally Occurring

          4  Retirement Communities, including Laurelton,

          5  Rosedale, and the Rockaways.  I, too, want to join

          6  the call for New York State to amend the Real

          7  Property Tax Law, and increase the income level for

          8  the SCRIE program.

          9                 Our seniors have been called the

         10  greatest generation, well, the greatest generation

         11  needs our help, and they need it now.  They have

         12  toiled long and hard, and it is time for action, and

         13  I urge everyone on this Committee to do what we need

         14  to do, so it can go before the City Council, and we

         15  can send a very strong message to New York State to

         16  do the right thing for our seniors.

         17                 Thank you very much, Madam Chair.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

         19                 MS. WALKER:  Hi, good morning.  My

         20  name is Jessica Walker, I am a Policy Analyst at

         21  United Neighborhood Houses. Which is a federation of

         22  36 settlement houses and community centers, all over

         23  the City, that provide various human services.

         24                 First of all, I want to say that we

         25  do support Intro. 539, and Intro. 540.  We worked
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          2  very hard on the state level to push the SCRIE

          3  expansion there, and we are happy that it is

          4  receiving so much support here.

          5                 Also. I want to talk about Resolution

          6  993, which calls for decreasing the required portion

          7  of income to be paid by otherwise eligible residents

          8  towards rent from one- third to one fourth.

          9                 While this is a positive step that

         10  could help many seniors, it would not help those

         11  seniors who are already paying more than the

         12  required minimum, whether that be one- third, or one

         13  fourth of their income.  Right now the law is

         14  written so that eligible residents must pay at least

         15  one- third of their income towards rent.  The

         16  Assembly and Senate legislation that is now being

         17  proposed would simply say that eligible residents

         18  must pay at least one- fourth of their income on

         19  rent.

         20                 While lowering the required minimum

         21  is beneficial many, those seniors who are paying

         22  half of their income on rent, and in some cases even

         23  more, they will not be affected by that. And, they

         24  will have to continue paying those large amounts

         25  because there is currently no maximum requirement.
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          2  So, we wanted to reintroduce the idea that Raquel

          3  spoke about, and there was also first introduced by,

          4  I believe, the Independent Budget Office in 2002,

          5  where you cap the amount of income that seniors pay

          6  towards rent under the program.

          7                 IBO, their idea was that the

          8  affordability, the federal affordability standard

          9  for most housing programs is set at 30 percent, for

         10  instance, New York City housing authority tenants

         11  pay rent equal to 30 percent of their monthly

         12  income.  So, lowering the rent to income threshold

         13  to this level would add nearly four times as many

         14  households, as would raising the income cap alone,

         15  at a modest cost to the City.

         16                 UNH will be working on the state

         17  level to incorporate this vital component into the

         18  Assembly and Senate legislation.

         19                 Also, we want to urge that more

         20  efforts to raise public awareness about the SCRIE

         21  program be undertaken to ensure that everyone knows

         22  about the program and its requirements, whatever the

         23  income thresholds and caps may be.

         24                 Last November, UNH in conjunction

         25  with CSCS organized a coalition to increase
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          2  utilization of the Senior Citizen Rent Increase

          3  Exemption.  As you may know, this valuable program

          4  is still greatly underutilized at 40.2 percent.  As

          5  such, we convened key advocates from the City's

          6  government, corporate, religious, and non- profit

          7  sectors to share ideas about enrolling more eligible

          8  seniors in the program.

          9                 We were pleased that the Counsel to

         10  this Committee, as we as key representatives from

         11  DFTA, were able to actively participate, and while

         12  we were productive in raising the awareness in some

         13  forms, there is still a long way to go.

         14                 In July 2002, the Mayor asked the New

         15  York City Department of Consumer Affairs to create a

         16  citywide coordinated campaign to increase the number

         17  of eligible New Yorkers claiming the Earned Income

         18  Tax Credit on their tax returns.  This campaign,

         19  which was modeled after similar efforts in Los

         20  Angeles and Chicago, built a coalition of diverse

         21  organizations to provide volunteer tax preparation

         22  assistance, donate space, inform potential

         23  recipients and underwrite the endeavor.

         24                 Most importantly, DCA also launched a

         25  citywide advertising campaign to encourage all New
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          2  Yorkers that qualify for the campaign to file.

          3  There are estimates that millions of New Yorkers

          4  were reached by these ads, and, at least thousands

          5  claimed it as a result, direct result.

          6                 For the EITC campaign, the Mayor and

          7  the DCA were able to get most of the advertising

          8  portion of the campaign paid for with in- kind

          9  donation.  For instance, Time Warner donated air

         10  time on its local cable networks for ads, bus

         11  shelter ads were donated by the MTA, McDonald's

         12  printed the ads on their disposable placemats, and

         13  El Diario printed the ads in its daily newspaper.

         14  The major expense associated with these ads was the

         15  outsourced designer who created the design, but it

         16  is our feeling that a similar outreach campaign

         17  around SCRIE would be both beneficial and

         18  worthwhile.  That is something that we are working

         19  on and it would definitely help to have more people

         20  involved in that.

         21                 We thank you for the opportunity to

         22  testify today and stand ready to work with you to

         23  bring about these necessary changes.  Thank you.

         24                 MS. KLABER:  Hi, my name is Elizabeth

         25  Klaber.  I am an independent rent- controlled tenant
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          2  who is basically doing research full time on rent

          3  control.

          4                 I may be the first of the non-

          5  organizational people to testify, but maybe I am out

          6  of order.  I am not sure which.

          7                 Thank you very much for having this

          8  hearing.

          9                 First of all, you need to brace

         10  yourselves, because in a couple of months there will

         11  be screams of pain by rent controlled tenants when

         12  they discover that beginning in January 2004, they

         13  can expect automatic seven and a half percent

         14  increases in each of the next three years.  I

         15  estimate the Maximum Base Rent to be over fifteen

         16  and a half percent, maybe the highest in 25 years,

         17  and my real numbers are actually higher.  I am

         18  afraid to say them, and because I have not shared

         19  them with anyone, and no one has checked them.  But,

         20  the maximum based rent is intended to be the ceiling

         21  against which the seven and a half percent can go,

         22  so when it exceeds fifteen and a half percent in two

         23  years, that means you are going to have seven and a

         24  half percent each and every year. Quite different

         25  from stabilization, okay?
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          2                 Rent- controlled tenants have been

          3  betrayed by the system of rent regulation in New

          4  York City.  While I was working, and I am disabled

          5  now, I paid the seven and a half percent

          6  transitional increases without question, since I

          7  believed that rent increases would roughly reflect

          8  the cost of living, once the maximum rent, called

          9  the MBR, was reached.

         10                 I have been researching to origins

         11  and methods of the system.  Many people do not know

         12  that the state adjusts rents using a formula

         13  designed in 1970, that has been modified several

         14  times, in favor of owners but allows for no human

         15  intervention once rents are computed, and no

         16  consideration of affordability.

         17                 It is important to realize that over

         18  half the formula is based on real property tax

         19  assessments that the New York City Finance

         20  Department computes based on building rental income.

         21  The vacancy decontrol, and the excessive vacancy

         22  allowances, not anticipated in the design of the

         23  original rent control system, now virtually ensure

         24  that the Maximum Base Rent will increase far faster

         25  than the rate of inflation.
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          2                 The MBR system was designed before

          3  the Urstadt law was passed, and the designers

          4  intended that various components be adjusted as

          5  needed either by the Rent Agency, which is now DHCR,

          6  or by the City Council, but naturally, as everyone

          7  knows, all rent reform is impaired by legislative

          8  gridlock.

          9                 Now, Rent Controlled seniors,

         10  therefore, really need help in this time of crisis.

         11  Resolution 993 can help bring seniors into SCRIE

         12  faster.  Naturally, the ceiling should be raised and

         13  you have to consider, with our rents going up so

         14  fast, anything to help SCRIE helps, okay, so

         15  entering into SCRIE is a slow process.  By the time

         16  you realize you are eligible, and swallow your

         17  pride, you are paying much more than a third of your

         18  income for rent.  Also, the Resolution 993 would

         19  help to coordinate SCRIE with SCHE because rather

         20  than making analyses of each seniors' application,

         21  like for medical deductions, which SCHE does allow,

         22  and SCRIE does not, that would tend to equalize it.

         23                 So, please reach out to seniors,

         24  particularly under rent control.  This minority is

         25  paying far higher rent increases than other
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          2  regulated tenants and much higher than the rate of

          3  inflation.

          4                 Currently, there are only 6,000 rent

          5  controlled tenants now on SCRIE.  I looked at the

          6  micro- data files, by the way, for the 2002 housing

          7  vacancy survey, and I got as far as analyzing the

          8  Bronx, and when you looked at the seniors over 62,

          9  Bronx, it looks like 40 percent are eligible for

         10  SCRIE, that is just the Bronx.  There is a lot of

         11  problems with the HVS numbers, by the way, when you

         12  get to Manhattan, you do the analysis by the move-

         13  in year, you discover that there is a lot of people

         14  who are really decontrolled, that is the records do

         15  not make sense.  You could have somebody 29 years

         16  old, who says he is neither rent- controlled or

         17  rent- stabilized, and he is paying $2,200 a month

         18  for rent, and he earns a quarter of a million

         19  dollars a year, and he is the rent- control portion

         20  of the housing vacancy survey.  So, I will be

         21  writing a letter, or somebody will be writing some

         22  letters to try to get HPD to work on, sort of,

         23  cleaning up the data.

         24                 Thank you very much.

         25                 MS. BUGGS:  Our next witness is Adele
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          2  Bender of JPAC Joint Public Affairs Committee,

          3  Walter Lasky also in part of JPAC, and Chris Durand.

          4                 MS. BENDER:  Thank you, good morning

          5  or good afternoon, whatever the case may be at this

          6  point.

          7                 My name is Adele Bender.  I am the

          8  Queensborough Coordinator for JPAC, Joint Public

          9  Affairs Committee for Older Adults, as well as a

         10  member or several tenant organizations.

         11                 On behalf of many senior tenants of

         12  New York, I cannot stress enough how important it is

         13  that New York City, the New York City Council pass

         14  enacting legislation supporting the bills, signed by

         15  the governor, that would raise the financial

         16  qualification for SCRIE program to $24,000.  The

         17  raise in qualifications for SCRIE is long overdue,

         18  about seven years.  There is a need to have

         19  qualifications be set at $35,000, and should be

         20  extended to people with disabilities, and whose

         21  income is limited. The cost of everyday living keeps

         22  escalating, however, at this time we ask that

         23  supporting legislation for $24,000 amount be enacted

         24  and passed.

         25                 It is no secret that the senior an
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          2  disabled populations are being hit from all sides.

          3  I understand that the COLA, which is the Cost of

          4  Living Adjustments on Social Security, will be a

          5  whopping two or two and a half percent, while the

          6  Medicare deduction from the Social Security income

          7  will be going up to $66.00.

          8                 In addition, for those who have

          9  worked and were careful with their money, the money

         10  that they made and saved for their old age, the

         11  banks give next to nothing in interest.  Along with

         12  this, of course, are rising health related costs,

         13  and the high cost of prescription medicines, and the

         14  rising rents, all of which are eating into their

         15  savings, that is, if some are fortunate enough to

         16  even have that.

         17                 While there is much work to be done

         18  on behalf of all renters in this City, your

         19  enactment for the present $24,000 qualification for

         20  SCRIE is essential for many seniors, and will at

         21  least, allow a substantial segment of the senior

         22  population the affordability to remain in their

         23  community.

         24                 While the higher amount of $35,000 as

         25  mentioned in the above paragraph is necessary
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          2  because this is an expensive town, this is at least

          3  a beginning to what we hope will eventually lead to

          4  higher income qualification, and will contribute to

          5  more seniors and disabled being able to afford to

          6  stay in their homes.  The senior population is

          7  growing, and therefore, the strong need for SCRIE

          8  programs.

          9                 And, last, but not least, your

         10  support for the needed Resolution 993 which would

         11  decrease the required proportion of income to be

         12  paid towards rent from one- third to one- fourth for

         13  rent- controlled, rent- stabilization, and Mitchell-

         14  Lama units on the SCRIE program.  It is very, very

         15  necessary.

         16                 I will contact my legislators in

         17  Albany requesting that they work towards turning

         18  this resolution into legislation and would ask that

         19  my City council, and the citizens of New York do the

         20  same.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 MR. LASKY:  Madam Chairman, Council

         23  members, and my own Council member, Domenic M.

         24  Recchia, Jr., who I understand will be back in a few

         25  minutes.
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          2                 I rise to speak for a large group of

          3  people, primarily senior citizens and disabled

          4  persons.  In my remarks,  I also speak for the

          5  residents of the Warbasse Housing Co- Op, and the

          6  JPAC organization.

          7                 These are people who are in danger of

          8  being pushed into the scrap heap of our society.  I

          9  believe I represent these people, I am one of them.

         10  I am 78 years of age.  I served the

         11  U. S. Navy in World War II.  I have always been a

         12  productive member of society.  I have helped produce

         13  wealth for my employers, both as a worker, and as a

         14  consumer.  I have spent my life paying taxes, and I

         15  have always observed my obligations as a citizen.  I

         16  am one of the millions of Americans who built this

         17  country, and who deserve more than being thrown on

         18  the scrap heap because I am no longer able to work.

         19  And, I speak for hundreds of thousands of people who

         20  cannot work because of age or disability.

         21                 I prepared for my retirement through

         22  thrifty living, savings, and to some extent,

         23  investing.  I do not have to remind you of what has

         24  transpired in the past few years caused by the

         25  greed, and criminal action of many large American
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          2  corporations, both domestic and global, causing the

          3  deterioration of my nest egg. My economic situation

          4  has been further damaged by our questionable

          5  attempts at nation building in Afghanistan and Iraq.

          6    This is the situation for hundreds of thousands of

          7  New Yorkers.

          8                 At Warbasse we recently took a

          9  thirteen and a half percent carrying charge

         10  increase.  We are facing a possible eighteen and a

         11  half percent increase in the near future.  Many of

         12  our retired and disabled residents will be in deep

         13  trouble, and will need accessibility to SCRIE.  We

         14  need for you to increase the income limit to

         15  $24,000.

         16                 Incidentally, in today's economy,

         17  $24,000 is not a lot of money.  I drive a 14 year

         18  old car.  I recently read the auto review section of

         19  the AAA Magazine, and I was amazed to learn that

         20  moderately priced cars are now going for $40-

         21  45,000.  My goodness, I remember when you could buy

         22  a whole house for this kind of money.

         23                 The point is that in view of the

         24  rapidly escalating costs, a $24,000 income should

         25  not keep older and disabled people from having a
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          2  decent place to live.

          3                 Two final points I would like to

          4  make.  I understand the State Enabling Legislation

          5  makes no provision for the disabled. It would be a

          6  Mitzvah, a good deed, if you would press the state

          7  legislature to included disabled people in the SCRIE

          8  legislation.

          9                 Any, finally, I have here some

         10  petitions addressed to Mr. Miller, the Speaker of

         11  the Council, I will read the text, it is very short.

         12

         13                 Dear Mr. Miller:  As a friend of

         14  JPAC, we are sure you sympathize with the plight of

         15  our senior citizens, and our disabled people.

         16  Please lend your strong support to the passage of

         17  the legislation to increase SCRIE, the SCRIE income

         18  limit, to $24,000, and to expanding the legislation

         19  to include the disabled.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 And, thank you for your, for this

         22  opportunity to speak to you.  Okay, thank you.

         23                 MS. BUGGS:  Next witnesses will be

         24  Phyllis Siegel of SAGE, Parvati Devi of Disabled in

         25  Action, and Honey Epstein of Housing Conservation
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          2  Coordinators.

          3                 MR. SIEGEL:  My name if Phyllis

          4  Siegel, a volunteer for SAGE, Senior Action in a Gay

          5  Environment.

          6                 I want to thank you for the

          7  opportunity to speak at these hearings today.  I

          8  also want to thank you for the support, I forgot to

          9  say good morning to you.  I want to thank you for

         10  the support you have given the Lesbian, Gay,

         11  Bisexual, Transgender Senior Community in the City.

         12                 Before I speak about the particular

         13  legislation we are discussing this day.  I would

         14  like, I am accompanied today by Marvin Fox, a SAGE

         15  member, who has very personal experience with SCRIE,

         16  although he is not the only member who's life has

         17  been affected by SCRIE.  These, he is sitting back

         18  there, and he is unable to tell his story today.

         19  Marvin, could you just stand up, just a minute, and

         20  show, what happened to him?  Well, I am sorry, I do

         21  not think he was too well today, sorry about that.

         22                 A word about SAGE.  SAGE is the

         23  nation's oldest, largest social service and advocacy

         24  organization dedicated to supporting, empowering,

         25  and celebrating lesbian, gay, bisexual, and
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          2  transgender seniors.  SAGE has over twenty- five

          3  years experience providing a wide variety of social

          4  services, public education, community building, and

          5  advocacy for seniors in the LGBT community. SAGE is

          6  the leader in the development of a LGBT Elder

          7  cultural competency curriculum for health care

          8  providers.

          9                 There are over 75,000 LGBT seniors in

         10  New York City. A study by the Brookdale Center on

         11  Aging at Hunter University, commissioned by SAGE,

         12  indicated that while more than 20 percent of LGBT

         13  seniors live with a life partner, that is contrasted

         14  with nearly half of the general elderly population

         15  who are currently married.  Fewer than one in ten

         16  LGBT persons have children, in contrast to the one

         17  in five who had children in the elderly population

         18  at large.  These figures indicate the potential of a

         19  high rate of isolation, and of the potential lack of

         20  caregivers. Many of the LGBT seniors who live alone

         21  in New York City come to SAGE as much for community

         22  as for case management and services Today, well, I

         23  am sorry about Marvin.

         24                 Studies have shown the LGBT seniors

         25  are 5 times less likely to access needed services
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          2  our of fear of discrimination. These fears would

          3  appear justified by the results of a national survey

          4  that found that two- thirds of physicians knew

          5  lesbian and gay patients who had received poor care

          6  or who were denied care because of their sexual

          7  orientation.  Other studies have shown that senior

          8  centers across the nation are hesitant or would

          9  refuse to enroll and program for seniors who are

         10  openly "out" LGBT's.

         11                 Until Marvin was threatened with the

         12  loss of his apartment at the time he lost is

         13  partner, he did not come to SAGE. He and his partner

         14  lived a very isolated life.  His story is familiar

         15  to us at SAGE.  Sadly, it was the death and loss of

         16  income that led Marvin to SAGE.

         17                 It is critical to underscore why we

         18  are testifying today.  The increase in maximum

         19  allowable income for seniors is a critical need of

         20  LGBT seniors in order for them to stay in the

         21  community, and age in place, rather than be

         22  subjected to the perceived and, or, real homophobic

         23  treatment LGBT seniors know occurs in many senior

         24  sites, and at long term care facilities. While there

         25  has been some movement against this kind of
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          2  discrimination, and while SAGE has just completed a

          3  cultural competency curriculum for health care

          4  providers, these gains are few and the real changes

          5  we need will be a long time in coming. Meantime,

          6  affordable housing options are a necessity for LGBT

          7  seniors, and the SCRIE increase is a major factor in

          8  allowing us to age in place with greater comfort and

          9  security.

         10                 Once again, though, we need to bring

         11  your attention, to wording in the proposed laws that

         12  may mitigate against LGBT seniors taking full

         13  advantage of this legislation.  Subdivision d of

         14  section 26- 601 of such code, amended in 1996 is

         15  being amended to read as follows:

         16                  "Eligible head of household" means a

         17  person or his or her spouse.  It goes on to add the

         18  rights and privileges of both people.  Needless to

         19  say, Marvin and his partner were not "spouses."  In

         20  this instance they were so afraid to be "out of the

         21  closet," that they were not even registered as

         22  domestic partners. And yet, Marvin and the many

         23  same- sex couples in New York City are no different

         24  than the heterosexual couples who are directly

         25  addressed by this change in the law.
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          2                 Thus, while we support the proposed

          3  changes, we urge that this Committee ensure that it

          4  also be available to the many old same sex couples

          5  that are not recognized as couples by our

          6  government.  We also hope that much of the

          7  legislation proposed for the elderly in New York

          8  City be read and written in such a way that we are

          9  included, our relationships respected, and our

         10  rights to protection by our government be ensured.

         11                 Again, thank you for this opportunity

         12  to speak. Thank you.

         13                 MS. DEVI:  Good afternoon, my name if

         14  Parvati Devi. I represent Disabled in Action.

         15                 I want to say from the beginning that

         16  I am not against expanding SCRIE to include more

         17  seniors.  But, I am not a senior, I am a person with

         18  a disability on SSI.  Can this Committee understand

         19  how I feel to see more seniors let in the door while

         20  the disabled community remains shut out again and

         21  again?

         22                 Recently, the governor signed a bill

         23  giving tax relief to senior and disabled homeowners.

         24    One state senator said, "these exemption programs

         25  enable elderly and disabled homeowners to continue
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          2  living near family, friends, and support networks."

          3  And we say that is what the Olmstead Act is all

          4  about.  We have the right to live in the community

          5  whenever we feel we can.  But, does not this very

          6  same theory for homeowners also apply to renters?

          7                 I am sure you know what happens when

          8  someone like me becomes homeless.  Then, it costs

          9  $20,000 per year to just house me in a shelter, and

         10  I just heard someone quote it is now up to $23,000.

         11  With other impairments, I would be in a nursing home

         12  at about $91,000 per year.

         13                 For a long time there has been a bill

         14  in the Council that would extend SCRIE to SSI/SSD

         15  recipients, but this bill has sat for years hung up

         16  in Committee.  The Mayor promised to extend SCRIE to

         17  people with disabilities, now, he has reneged on his

         18  promise with the excuse of the budget crunch.  With

         19  a cost of just over four million dollars for one

         20  year, how could it not be affordable when the

         21  alternative is far more costly?

         22                 My 2004 SSI monthly allowance will be

         23  about $652 with the 2.1 increase.  My rent is $466.

         24  How can I live without this bill passing?  The rents

         25  keep going up and up.
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          2                 I call upon this Committee, this

          3  Council to put pressure on the Mayor, and in turn

          4  upon the Governor with the right pressure.  This

          5  bill should pass for seniors but at the same time,

          6  the bill extending to the disabled community should

          7  also be signed. One group should not be favored over

          8  the other when the needs are the same.

          9                 MR. EPSTEIN:  Good afternoon, my name

         10  is Harvey Epstein.  I am the Associate Director of

         11  Housing Conservation Coordinators, and I want to

         12  thank the Chairwomen for the opportunity to speak

         13  before you today.

         14                 I would like to also recognize some

         15  of the constituents and residents of the Westside

         16  Hell's Kitchen, Clinton area, who came and we are

         17  speaking on their behalf because they are really

         18  concerned about the issue related to SCRIE.  We do

         19  not have as many issues related to SCHE because of

         20  the neighborhood, but we support the bill before the

         21  Council to enhance SCHE as well.

         22                 Housing Conservation Coordinators, is

         23  a community based housing preservation organization,

         24  located in Hell's Kitchen, Clinton area, Manhattan.

         25  We assist thousands of local residents with
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          2  comprehensive approaches to housing issues, eviction

          3  protection, public assistance rent arrears, co- op

          4  conversion, weatherization, and applications for

          5  many other government programs.  We have a growing

          6  number of seniors, like in many areas of Manhattan,

          7  and SCRIE is a fundamental piece of allowing people

          8  to remain in this community.

          9                 I do not want to go detail into the

         10  testimony because you can read it here, but it is

         11  fundamentally important that the Council looks at

         12  the issues related to the disabled, and enhances

         13  SCRIE not just for the seniors, but looks at the

         14  issues for the disabled.  We have a growing disabled

         15  population in our community, and SCRIE is

         16  unavailable to this population.

         17                 As you are well aware, the housing

         18  crisis is spiraled out of control in New York.  HUD

         19  has found that the City housing crisis is the worst

         20  in any city in the nation. According to the 2000

         21  rent guidelines board, Income and Affordability

         22  Study, New York City, out of all the major cities,

         23  has the most acute housing shortage.  With well over

         24  1.5 million families lacking adequate housing.

         25                 Unless we are to address this in a
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          2  comprehensive way, including expanding SCHE and

          3  SCRIE to higher incomes, hopefully, SCRIE to above,

          4  at least to $30,000, as well as expanding it to the

          5  disabled, we are going to, it is going to totally

          6  spiral out of control in New York.  We must look for

          7  alternative sources of housing and the situation has

          8  become bleak in New York.  The average single adult

          9  seeking temporary housing shelter has been increased

         10  up to 23,000, disabled for 38,000 individuals and

         11  families who are residing in the City shelters by

         12  January 2003, which includes over 16,000 children.

         13                 SCRIE will save the government

         14  millions of dollars, increasing the amount saved

         15  even more (phonetic).  And, I encourage you to pass

         16  the resolution's before you and encourage you to

         17  think about expanding as other speakers have said to

         18  the disabled.

         19                 Thank you very much.  It is like I

         20  know, some of those seniors came here, they may want

         21  to say something briefly, and also Bob Kallen

         22  (phonetic), who is one of our organizers, wants to

         23  say something briefly.

         24                 MR. KALLEN:  I just wanted to add

         25  very, very briefly, first, a piece of good news.
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          2  The last time I testified on this issue about five

          3  years ago, it was about processing problems with

          4  SCRIE, and, frankly, I had three cases that were

          5  pending for more than a year and a half that your

          6  staff, actually helped us finally settle.  There

          7  aren't any processing problems pretty much at this

          8  point, the process has gotten pretty smoothed out.

          9  The main problem now is that we need to have the

         10  income level in the real world.  I estimate that in

         11  the last year, I have helped 12 people who did not

         12  qualify for SCRIE.  Of those 12, only two, two are

         13  going to qualify now that this income level is going

         14  to be raised to $24,000.  The typical person that we

         15  help in our neighborhood is a senior citizen who

         16  gets Social Security, and a pension, it puts you

         17  over $24,000.  Yes it is good, we are very grateful

         18  that this is going up to $24,000, but it is just not

         19  cutting it.  There is no more awful feeling in this

         20  world than to sit in a room with a senior, help them

         21  calculate what their income is, and to find out that

         22  they do not qualify.  Not that I have had one or two

         23  people crying in my office in the last year, I have

         24  had a dozen.  It is time that we move this program

         25  so that more people can qualify for it.  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. BUGGS:  The next witnesses will

          3  be Jenny Laure of the Metropolitan Council on

          4  Housing, Anita Roman, Anita Romm, I'm sorry, Anita

          5  Romm, Metropolitan Council, and Thomas Siracuse of

          6  the Committee to Protect Rent Control Tenants.

          7                 MS. LAURE:  My name is Jenny Laure.

          8  I am the Director of the Met. Council on Housing

          9  which is a tenants rights organization.  Met.

         10  Council runs a volunteer hot line, where we take

         11  questions from tenants about their rights, and about

         12  problems they are having.  And, over a year's time,

         13  we get hundreds of calls from seniors who are living

         14  on fixed incomes and are afraid that they will not

         15  be able to stay in their apartments.

         16                 I think it is a great idea for the

         17  City Council to approve the increase in the income

         18  limit to $24,0000.  I think it does two things, of

         19  course, it gives much needed financial assistance to

         20  the seniors, and it also solves the anxiety problem

         21  for seniors who worry tremendously that once they

         22  stop working, they will be unable to stay in their

         23  apartments.

         24                 Met. Council also strongly supports

         25  Resolution 993, which would lower the percentage of
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          2  income paid for rent to a quarter, from a third.

          3  Met. Council has always testified and argued that a

          4  third of income is much too high of a standard.

          5  Many other people have testified on that issue.  We

          6  also feel that the income limit is too low, that it

          7  should be up to $30,000.

          8                 The other thing I want to talk about

          9  is the fact that only 40 percent of households

         10  currently eligible for SCRIE participate in the

         11  program, and that both the Department for the Aging,

         12  and HPD could very simply increase the participation

         13  rate.

         14                 Currently, the DHCR sends out orders

         15  of eligibility to every rent- controlled tenant,

         16  where the landlord participates in the rent increase

         17  program.  How difficult would it be for the DHCR to

         18  put a SCRIE application into each one of those

         19  envelopes?  Or for the landlords to be required to

         20  include, every year, in the MCR notification to

         21  seniors, a SCRIE application.  Currently, landlords

         22  are required to include notices about lead

         23  poisoning, window guards.  How difficult would it be

         24  for the landlord to included a notification about

         25  the SCRIE program with an application?  In addition,
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          2  in Mitchell- Lama apartments, which HPD monitors,

          3  the Mitchell- Lama, residents in a Mitchell- Lama

          4  Co- op and rentals, have to report their income to

          5  HPD and to the landlord every year.  It would be a

          6  very simple process for the landlord to notify those

          7  tenants, which it already knows qualify for SCRIE,

          8  because they know what the rent will be, and they

          9  know what the income level is. It would be a very

         10  simple process for HPD to require the managing

         11  agents of those buildings, the management companies

         12  of those buildings to include SCRIE applications,

         13  and to notify eligible tenants and co- op

         14  shareholders that they are eligible.  I do not see

         15  why it is so complicated to get the word out about

         16  SCRIE, and it is pretty outrageous that only 40

         17  percent of those households who are eligible for

         18  SCRIE participate.

         19                 The other thing Met. Council

         20  supports, and has supported for years is the

         21  expansion of SCRIE to the disabled. Obviously, in

         22  the past, it is because Mayor Giuliani did not

         23  support that expansion.  Currently, we understand

         24  that Mayor Bloomberg does not support it.  I stand

         25  with other people in this room, in urging the City
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          2  Council to pass a resolution home rule message to

          3  Albany to say that, yes, the City Council supports

          4  expanding the SCRIE program to the disabled, and

          5  pressuring the Mayor to do that, as well.  Thank you

          6  very much.

          7                 MS. ROMM:  Good morning, my name is

          8  Anita Romm.  I am a member of the Simon Senior

          9  Center at the Riverdale YWHA, and I am the

         10  songwriter for Metropolitan Council on Housing.  I

         11  am here in support of seniors who should not have to

         12  choose between food, rent, prescription drugs, which

         13  of course is another issue.  The present SCRIE

         14  income limit was reached a while back in 1996, and

         15  we need to raise it to reflect inflation.  I also

         16  wrote a song for the occasion but I will spare you

         17  the singing;  Laissez-faire fauve moi derriere.

         18                 MR. SIRACUSE:  Good morning, my

         19  glasses, my name is Tom Siracuse.  I am on the

         20  Steering Committee to Protect Rent Controlled

         21  Tenants, and also on the Steering Committee for the

         22  Retiree Advocate Caucus of the United Federation of

         23  Teachers.

         24                 The situation for seniors living in

         25  rent regulated apartments has become grave.  In
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          2  2002, rent controlled tenants, whose average age is

          3  well over 70 had a median income of only $20,000 a

          4  year.  At least one- third of rent controlled

          5  tenants paid more than 50 percent of their incomes

          6  in rent.  Most of these tenants have relatively

          7  fixed incomes.  The Social Security increase was

          8  only 1.4 percent in 2003.  Yet, rent controlled

          9  tenants were hit by a ten and a half percent MBR,

         10  Maximum Base Rent, increase last year, and rent-

         11  stabilized tenants, with a seven and a half percent

         12  increase.  These increases can reach more than 20

         13  percent because regulated tenants are subject to

         14  MCI, Major Capital Improvement increases.  Rent

         15  controlled tenants are also eligible for fuel and

         16  labor passalongs.

         17                 According to the HUD benchmark for

         18  housing affordability, one- third of all rent

         19  controlled tenants cannot afford their present

         20  rents.

         21                 Bill 539, which raises the SCRIE to

         22  $24,000 helps, but it is not enough.  Is the City

         23  government willing  to witness the spectacle of

         24  elderly citizens thrown out on the streets because

         25  they can no longer pay their rents?  According to
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          2  the Housing and Vacancy Survey, in 2002, the number

          3  of non- payment filings in Housing Court rose almost

          4  20 percent to 331,300.  The Committee to Protect

          5  Rent Controlled tenants supports Bill 539, as well

          6  as Bill 410, which requires immediate recalculation

          7  of rents once the incomes of SCRIE tenants drops

          8  more than 20 percent.

          9                 We also support Reso. 993 which

         10  lowers the percentage from one- third to one-

         11  quarter of the income paid in rent for SCRIE

         12  tenants.

         13                 To avoid the disaster of eviction of

         14  those seniors who are not eligible for these

         15  benefits, we recommend the following:

         16                 Freeze regulated rents of all seniors

         17  whose incomes are below $30,000 a year.

         18                 Reduce rents retroactively, so that

         19  those who become eligible for SCRIE, but are already

         20  paying more than one- third of their incomes in

         21  rent, would have their rents reduced to one- third

         22  of their incomes.

         23                 Extend the SCRIE program to those who

         24  are disabled, on SSI, and SSD.

         25                 Thank you very much.
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          2                 MS. BUGGS:  Our last panel of

          3  witnesses will be a panel of four.  Kyle Duncan,

          4  Michael McKee of the New York State Tenants and

          5  Neighbors Coalition, Dawn Sullivan of the East Side

          6  Tenants Coalition, and George H. Collins.

          7                 MR. DUNCAN:  Good morning, my name is

          8  Kyle Duncan. I am a multi- disabled individual.

          9  Currently, I am on Medicaid.  My Medicaid bill is

         10  $1,000 a month.  I am taking 9 medications for pain

         11  management, and for diabetes contracted through my

         12  injury.

         13                 My point here is that I, technically

         14  I am homeless, I am sleeping on my mothers floor in

         15  a studio apartment in Manhattan Plaza which is

         16  Mitchell- Lama housing.  People cannot not afford to

         17  live out on the street.  I have spent the last 30

         18  years of my life working in the street as a

         19  professional mover.  I have seen a lot of the trauma

         20  and torment that people go through just moving from

         21  one location to another.  It is catastrophic to go

         22  to the street, and have no where else to go.  I

         23  really hope that you guys can find it in your hearts

         24  to understand exactly what is going on in this City,

         25  and to remember that each and every one of us that
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          2  is born here is going to be an adult, an elderly

          3  individual.  They are going to be senior citizens,

          4  and senior citizens with disabilities, as well as

          5  being young with disabilities.  I want to go back to

          6  work.  I have been in the Back to Work Program since

          7  the day I got this injury, and I filed for my

          8  unemployment, for my Workers' Compensation.  I went

          9  in twice, both in the insured and uninsured units, I

         10  still have yet to receive any money.  I am not yet

         11  receiving any cash from any organization whatsoever.

         12    It is difficult.  The only thing that has kept me

         13  going this far is because I spent the last 25 years

         14  lifting furniture and steel.  I have worked on the

         15  books.  I have done my part.  It is going to be a

         16  nightmare out there because this population of the

         17  senior citizens and the disabled community, it is

         18  growing.  It is a natural process of life.  Please,

         19  extend this to the elderly, to the disabled

         20  community, and the senior citizens who are disabled,

         21  as well.  It is absolutely needed, and it is going

         22  to be a nightmare two years from now, if we do not

         23  take care of the situation now.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you and I

         25  just want to say that Mr. Mullen from administration
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          2  is here, and Mr. Mullen, I want to see how this

          3  Committee can work together with the Mayor's office

          4  in making sure that we try to work together in

          5  passing this bill, and encourage the state

          6  legislators to do so.  So, if we can just

          7  keep in touch regarding this.  Thank you.

          8                 MR. MC KEE:  Good afternoon

          9  Chairwomen Baez, and Council member Gonzalez.  My

         10  name is Michael McKee.  I am a Staff Organizer and

         11  the Associate Director of New York State Tenants and

         12  Neighbors Coalition.

         13                 Tenants and Neighbors supports Intro.

         14  539, supports Intro. 540, and supports Resolution

         15  993.  I have to say that we are very disappointed

         16  that it has taken seven years to raise the income

         17  threshold for SCRIE, and then when we get an

         18  increase out of Albany, it is essentially a cost of

         19  living increase.  So, it really does not do anything

         20  to pick up the slack of people who have lost

         21  effective incomes through inflation.  I cannot tell

         22  you how heartbreaking it is to talk to a tenant on

         23  the phone, or to encounter one of our members at a

         24  meeting who is, has been $21,000 a year, $22,000 a

         25  year and to have to explain to them why they are not
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          2  eligible for this relief.  The $24,000 is simply not

          3  enough, there are bills in Albany that would extend

          4  the threshold to $30,000 a year.  There is even a

          5  bill that would extend the program, the threshold to

          6  $50,000 a year.

          7                 The other major concern we have, and

          8  this is an issue I have been working on since 1978,

          9  is the inequity, the unfairness, the meanness of not

         10  extending this program to tenants who have

         11  disability, who just do not happen to be 62 years of

         12  age yet.

         13                 I was a member of the Temporary State

         14  Commission on Rental Housing from 1978 to 1980, the

         15  Commission issued a report in 1980, that among it's

         16  recommendations, at that time, were to extend the

         17  SCRIE program to tenants with disabilities, who are

         18  not elderly.  That is how long it has been since

         19  this issue has been really addressed.  We finally

         20  got, after years of trying, the State Assembly, to

         21  pass a bill to include non- elderly tenants with

         22  disabilities under this program, two years ago.

         23  Whereupon, the City of New York, under Mayor

         24  Giuliani, actually issued a memo on opposition.  Up

         25  until that time, the opposition by the City was
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          2  quiet.  It was behind the scenes.  It was whispered,

          3  we cannot afford this.  But, the City of New York

          4  issued a memo in opposition against this bill, and

          5  again, the administration of Mayor Bloomberg has

          6  issued a formal, written memo in opposition to this

          7  bill, claiming that the City cannot afford it.  You

          8  know, it made me ashamed to be a citizen of the City

          9  of New York.  It really did, and it made me very,

         10  very angry.

         11                 We need the City Council to get on

         12  board this fight, we need you to lead this, we need

         13  you to put some pressure on Mayor Bloomberg.  You

         14  know, it has been seven years since the legislature

         15  last dealt with raising the income threshold for the

         16  SCRIE program. That is ridiculous.  And, it will

         17  probably be left to it's own devises several more

         18  years before the legislature revisits this program.

         19  So, we really need our elected officials, and we are

         20  looking to the City Council to help us get the

         21  pressure behind this bill that we need.  The

         22  publicity, the public pressure, we need the Council,

         23  and, we need the Speaker of the Council to be

         24  putting some pressure on Mayor Bloomberg to get this

         25  done.  It is so unfair, that tenants with
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          2  disabilities, who are not elderly, are left out in

          3  the cold.  I mean, talk about heartbreaking.  We

          4  have talked to people who's income is in the range

          5  of $6,000- $7,000 a year, but because they are not

          6  62, there is nothing anyone can do for them. So,

          7  thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you.

          9                 MS. SULLIVAN:  My name is Dawn

         10  Sullivan, and I am Chair of the East Side Tenants

         11  Coalition, which represents thousands of tenants on

         12  the East Side of Manhattan.

         13                 I must say, in my written text I did

         14  not put in about covering the disabled, and that was

         15  a great oversight on my part.

         16                 We are facing a $63 per room MCI rent

         17  increase in my building, so I have been a little

         18  distracted fighting to keep our heads above water,

         19  and to fight that $63 a month, so, anything I say

         20  here also includes the fact that we do strongly

         21  support that the disabled are covered by any SCRIE

         22  program.

         23                 I am pleased to be here to speak in

         24  support of Intro. 539, and Resolution 993.  The

         25  Upper East Side was known to have had the highest
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          2  concentration of rent regulated seniors in the City,

          3  and so many of those tenants have been struggling

          4  for years to keep up with rent guidelines.

          5                 We do telephone counseling, and if

          6  all of you could hear some of the calls we receive

          7  from desperate seniors, we know it would touch your

          8  heart.  By the time most seniors qualify for SCRIE,

          9  their rent takes up most of their income.  All too

         10  many seniors have had to leave their homes here in

         11  New York, to move in with relatives out- of- state.

         12  This is devastating for them to leave everything

         13  familiar to them at this late stage in their lives,

         14  and without being dramatic, I am sure  many have

         15  died prematurely because of this traumatic change.

         16                 All seniors should be able to deduct

         17  their out of pocket medical expenses, be it premiums

         18  or per payments.  We ask that you help by amending

         19  Intro. 539 to include the deduction of medical

         20  expenses for seniors.  This would leave a lot more

         21  seniors able to qualify for SCRIE, and this is most

         22  important.

         23                 The state bill that Governor Pataki

         24  signed increasing SCRIE to $24,000 stood out because

         25  it passed unanimously in both the Senate, and the
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          2  Assembly.  A unanimous vote in both houses in Albany

          3  is very rare, and it speaks highly of the merits of

          4  this increase.

          5                 We look to you to pass Intro. 539, so

          6  it can come before the full Council.  An increase of

          7  $24,000 is a good start, but we still have to work

          8  very hard to get it up to $34,000.

          9                 We do urge you to not only pass

         10  Resolution 993, lowering the percentage of income

         11  for rent regulated and Mitchell Lama tenants to one-

         12  fourth of a seniors income, but to actively lobby in

         13  Albany to help to see that this happens.

         14                 This hearing was not very well

         15  advertised and it certainly should have been,

         16  however, we do thank you for the opportunity we were

         17  given to testify.  Please act immediately to get

         18  this out of committee, so a vote of the full Council

         19  can take place in the near future.  Thank you.

         20                 MR. COLLINS:  Hello, Madam Chairman.

         21  I am George H. Collins.  I am a resident of a

         22  Section A housing, (phonetic) which includes seniors

         23  and disabled.  I myself am on Social Security since

         24  1974, when I was 54 years old, and Social Security

         25  declared me unemployed, or retired.  Now, I think a
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          2  simple way of killing this whole muddy thing is

          3  eliminate the word senior, or elderly, and put into

          4  it, those declared by Social Security to be retired,

          5  regardless of what age or disability, would be, take

          6  the word senior or elderly out of it, and amend it

          7  to put the words to read something to the nature,

          8  those declared disabled or retired by Uncle Sam.

          9  Uncle Sam establishes it with the aid of a city, of

         10  a state agency, so there is a standard.  Nobody can

         11  go against it. So, that is a simple thing, just

         12  amend that law, take the word senior or elderly out,

         13  and put it in it's place, those declared eligible as

         14  retired, you are on Social Security, or SSI, or

         15  whatever, by Social Security, and that would clear

         16  the whole thing up.  You would not have to amend

         17  anything, just a little, tweaking the law.  Taking

         18  the word senior or elderly out, and replacing it

         19  with another statement.  Sorry, I do not have

         20  anything in writing.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Thank you very

         22  much.

         23                 MS. BUGGS:  That concludes our

         24  hearing.  The Committee will now vote.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  The Committee will
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          2  be voting on Reso., on Intro. 539, 540, and Reso.

          3  993.  I recommend that the Committee vote yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council member Baez.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Aye, on all.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Dilan.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  Madam Chair,

          8  may I have a moment to be excused to explain my

          9  vote?

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN:  I, and I will

         12  speak briefly, I am just glad to see that, that on

         13  both sides of the hall here, the talk is about

         14  giving money back to the seniors, whether they be

         15  homeowners or not, and, I just love to see the

         16  debate continue, and I believe this is the start of

         17  that process, although, I know many of the senior

         18  advocates have been pushing for this bill for quite

         19  some time, and in that regard, I vote aye, on all.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Foster.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FOSTER:  Aye, on all.

         22                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Recchia.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER RECCHIA:  Aye, on all.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Gonzalez.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GONZALEZ:  Aye, on
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          2  all.

          3                 COUNCIL CLERK:  GALLAGHER.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  Madam

          5  Chairwomen, may I be temporarily excused to explain

          6  my vote?

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER:  First of

          9  all, thank you for bringing these bills before us

         10  today, and I am proudly going to vote aye, on all

         11  that is before us today in the Committee.

         12                 I just wanted to make one public

         13  comment for someone who had testified earlier with

         14  regards to our former Mayor, Rudy Giuliani.  While

         15  some of us may or may not agree with some of his

         16  policies, I will certainly say that I was proud to

         17  be a part of New York City, and an employee here in

         18  the City Council of the City of New York, and

         19  working under the fine leadership of Rudy Giuliani.

         20  I think he did an outstanding job for the City, and

         21  will forever be remembered as a great Mayor for the

         22  City of New York.

         23                 So, thank you for affording me that

         24  opportunity, Madam Chairwomen.

         25                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 7 in the
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          2  affirmative, none in the negative, and no

          3  abstentions, all coupled items are adopted, please

          4  sign the reports.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ:  This meeting is

          6  now adjourned. Thank you.

          7                 (Hearing adjourned at 12:40 p.m.)
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